
 
 

 
 

 
NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE PROTOCOL COMMITTEE 

 
TO BE HELD IN THE RICHARD O'CARROLL ROOM - CITY HALL 

 
ON THURSDAY 30 NOVEMBER 2017 AT 8.00 AM 

 

 
AGENDA 

 
THURSDAY 30 NOVEMBER 2017

  PAGE 
 
1   Terms of Reference for Outside Legal Opinion - Clontarf to City Centre Cycleway 

Part 8 Process   
 

3 - 4 

2   Minutes of the meeting held on 2nd November 2017 and matters arising   
 

5 - 8 

3   Lord Mayor's Receptions and Engagements of the Deputy Lord Mayor   
 

9 - 12 

4   Conferences:   
 

 

a)   Conferences Attended:  
 Cllr. Paddy Bourke, AILG Briefing for Elected Members – “National 

Public Library Strategy”. Landmark Hotel, Carrick-on-Shannon, 
County Leitrim. 21st October 2017. 

 

 

b)   Conference Reports Received:  
 

 Cllr. Paddy Bourke, AILG Briefing for Elected Members – “National 
Public Library Strategy”.  

 

13 - 14 

5   Motion in the name of Councillor Patrick Costello: 
 
“That Dublin City Council will seek to rejoin the International Council for 
Local Environmental Initiatives having previously been a member." 
 

 

6   Motion in the name of Councillor Chris Andrews: 
 
"That the City Council will fly the Gay Pride flag over City Hall during the 
month of June 2018 in order to support the LGBTQ community in the 
ongoing campaign for equality." 
 
 

 

7   Revision of Expenses and Allowances for Elected Members   
 

15 - 64 

8   Freedom of the City   
 

65 - 66 



 

9   Draft Flags Policy   
 

67 - 68 

10   Members Engagement Forum Presentation - (For Information Purposes)   
 

69 - 100 

11   Deadlines for Council Meeting to be held on 8th January 2017   
 

 

12   Protocol Committee Meeting Dates for 2018 
 

 4th January 

 1st February 

 1st March 

 5th April 

 10th May  

 7th June 

 28th June 

 27th September 

 1st November 

 29th November 

 

 

13   Managers Report   
 

 

14   A.O.B   
 

 

15   Proposed date for next meeting - Thursday 4th January 2018 at 8am in the 
Richard O'Carroll Room, City Hall.   
 

 

 



To the Chair and Members of the Report of the Chief Executive 
Protocol Committee   

 
 

Procuring a Second Legal Opinion in Relation to Clontarf to City Centre Cycle Scheme Part 8 

 
 
The following emergency motion was passed by the City Council at its meeting on 6 November 
2017: 
 

‘That Independent Counsel opinion be obtained to confirm that the Clontarf to City Centre 
Cycle Scheme Part 8 process was conducted in full compliance with the relevant statutory 
requirements. This Independent Council will be chosen by Councillor's. This opinion will also 
include the following in order to protect the integrity of the process; 
 
-  what effect did DCC's non-compliance with it's own non-statutory procedures have on 

the Part 8 Statutory process. 
 
-  whether or not 'an issue that arose' (petition) after the statutory public submission cut-

off of the 9th March resulted in the modifications ( removal of traffic lane ) that were 
made to the CEO's Part 8 report of the 28th August. (it should be noted that the DNC 
Area Committee where the modifications where to take place had at their meeting of 
the 17th July proposed to accept the managers initial report which did not include the 
removal of the traffic lane. 

 
The opinion will also advise on the sections of the Local Government Act 2001 which give 
reserved powers to Councillors e.g. Section 136, 137, 138, 139 etc and how these powers 
can be used to best effect if necessary. This specific information will be a much needed and 
valuable independent resource for immediate and future reference for all Councillors.’ 

 
Elected Members are entitled, under Section 132 of the Local Government Act 2001 (as 
amended), to direct that a second legal opinion be obtained in relation to the exercise of a reserved 
function by the Council. It is my responsibility as Chief Executive to procure the second opinion. As 
a legal opinion has already been obtained in relation to the Part 8 process from an eminent Junior 
Counsel with expertise in planning law I am proposing that the second opinion should now be 
obtained from an eminent Senior Counsel with expertise in planning law.  
 
 
I am proposing to proceed as follows: 
 

1. To ask the Law Agent to list between three and six eminent Senior Counsel with expertise 
in planning law. (He will not approach them in relation to their capacity to take this brief.) 
 

2. To ask an t-Ardmhéara to select one of the listed barristers who will then be engaged by 
the Law Agent to provide the second legal opinion. (If the selected barrister is unable to 
take the brief an t-Ardmhéara will be asked to select a second barrister from the list who 
will be engaged subject to him/her being available.) 
 

Page 3



3.  To give the selected barrister a copy of the emergency motion and to asked him/her to 
prepare a legal opinion on the issues raised in the motion and in particular: 
 

a.  to review the Part 8 process conducted by the City Council in relation to the Clontarf to 
City Centre Cycleway Scheme,  
 

b.  to consider any written submission made by Elected Members and by City Council 
management in relation to the conduct of the Part 8 process. (I am proposing that 
individual Elected Members and City Council management would be given two weeks to 
make any written submissions in relation to the Part 8 process to the selected barrister), 
 

c.  to advise the Council if it is safe for it to proceed on the basis of the decision made by the 
Council in relation to the Part 8, at its meeting on 2 October 2017 and  
 

d.  to advise the Council in relation to its functions under Sections 136, 137, 138 and 139 of 
the Act.  

 
 
An t-Ardmhéara has indicated that he is happy with this approach subject to it being acceptable to 
the Protocol Committee.  
 
 
 
Owen P Keegan        22nd November 2017 
Chief Executive 

Page 4



 
 

 
 

MINUTES OF THE PROTOCOL COMMITTEE MEETING 
 

HELD ON THURSDAY 2 NOVEMBER 2017 
 

 
1   Minutes of the meeting held on 28th September and matters arising 

Order: Agreed 
 

 

2   Lord Mayor's Receptions and Engagements of the Deputy Lord Mayor 
Order: Noted and Recommend to Council 
 

 

3   Conferences:   
 

 

a)   Conferences Attended:  
Order: Agreed and Recommend to Council  
 

 

b)   Conference Reports Received:  
Order: Noted 
 

 

4   Motion in the name of Councillor Patrick Costello: 
Order: Cllr. Costello was not in attendance and requested his motion be 
deferred to the next meeting 
 

 

5   Motion in the Name of Councillor Ray McHugh: 
 
The Manager informed Members that this functionality was part of the existing 
voting system. Work on the IT system in the Chamber was scheduled for 
December/January and investigations to enable it would be carried out at that 
time. 
Order: Agreed   
 

 

6   Motion in the Name of Councillor Damian O'Farrell: 
 
Cllr. O’Farrell explained that the Part 8 had been presented to the Area 
Committee prior to going to publication consultation. Following that consultation 
there were significant changes to the application. He and other Councillors were 
very frustrated that the revised part 8 had not been brought back to the Area 
Committee before it was presented to the City Council meeting in September. 
There was agreement among the Members that in general there should be 
greater consultation on Part 8 applications at Area level and in particular with 
development taking place within City Council Parks.  
The Manager informed Members that the Chief Executive had received legal 
advice on the matter and that he would be circulating it to Councillors within the 
next couple of days. It was also important to distinguish between local practices 
and requirements of law when it came to Part 8 applications. 
Order: It was agreed that the motion be deferred until such time as the 
Members have received legal opinion on the matter. The Manager will also 
bring reports back to this committee concerning the Part 8 consultation 
process and the involvement of Councillors in the commercial development 
of City Council Parks.            

 

Page 5



 
 

7   Motion in the Name of Councillor John Lyons: 
 
“In solidarity with our twin city of Barcelona this Council condemns the 
Spanish government’s repression and violence perpetrated on citizens 
exercising their democratic right to vote and as such, in an act of solidarity 
and in recognition of this universal right to democracy and self 
determination as established by international covenants, we agree to fly the 
Catalan flag over City Hall for one month.” 
 
Cllr Lyon’s informed Members that he was proposing the motion on behalf of Cllr. 
Tina MacVeigh. The motion was seconded by the Árdmhéara Mícheál 
MacDonncha. The Members were supportive of the first element of the motion 
which condemned the violent actions of the Spanish government in reaction to the 
Catalan Independence Referendum. However, some Members were not in favour 
of flying the Catalan Flag as they believed it would politicise City Hall and would 
give the impression that the City Council was taking sides in the constitutional 
dispute.  
Chairperson Cllr. Heney proposed that the motion be deferred as to such a time 
when the Protocol Committee had an agreed Flags Policy in place. This was put 
to a vote and was defeated. 
Order: The motion as proposed was put to a vote and was agreed. 
Recommend to Council.        
 

 

8   Correspondence from the South Central Area Committee regarding an 
Emergency Motion on the situation in Catalonia 
Order: This item was considered with Item 7 on agenda. 
 

 

9   Health & Safety in City Hall 
 
The Manager reported that there had been a number of breaches of Health & 
Safety good practice by the Members in City Hall over recent months. 
Unauthorised protests from the window of the Chamber and the roof of City Hall 
had the potential for serious injury and loss of life to both Councillors and 
members of the public. Measures have been put in place to prevent access to the 
roof and Members were requested to adhere to Health & Safety procedures. 
Order: Noted.     
 

 

10   Managers Report 
 

 The Manager reported that the Members Room in the Civic Offices was 
now available. It is located in Block 1, Floor 2, opposite the Housing 
Welfare section. It is for Councillors use only - meetings with officials and 
constituents are not permitted.  
Order: Details of the room’s location and terms of use will be 
circulated to all Councillors. 
 

 The Manager reported that a new Council Phone Directory was now 
available on the Modern Gov website and iPad App. This would replace 
the existing Annual Pocket Diary. The Manager explained that due to 
external constraints with the production and publication of the diary it was 
no longer feasible to continue with it.  
The Members welcomed the new electronic directory but were unhappy 
that the Pocket Diary was to be discontinued. It is a resource that is 
provided to Councillors and they should have been consulted before a 
decision regarding its future was taken.  
Order: The Members requested that the Manager revisit the decision 
to discontinue the Dublin City Council Pocket Diary.  

 

Page 6



 
 

11   A.O.B 
 

 Cllr. Flynn, with the support of the other Members suggested to the 
Árdmhéara that Dublin City Council should honour Katie Taylor 
considering her recent achievements on the world’s sporting stage. 
Order: The Árdmhéara informed Members that he would happily 
consider hosting a Civic Reception to honour Ms. Taylor. 
 

 Cllr. Farrell requested that the policy preventing non-councillors from 
entering the Members Supper Room be reviewed. There have been 
occasions where City Council employees have requested guests of 
Councillors to vacate the room which has caused unnecessary 
embarrassment and upset. 
Order: Noted.   

 

 

12   Proposed date for next meeting - Thursday 30th November 2017 at 8am in the 
Richard O'Carroll Room, City Hall. 
 
Order: Agreed 
 

 

 
Councillor Deirdre Heney 
Chairperson 
Thursday 2 November 2017 
 
 
 
Attendance: 
 
Members: Members: Members: 
Deirdre Heney (Chairperson)   
Aine Clancy Mannix Flynn Teresa Keegan 
Dermot Lacey John Lyons Ardmhéara Micheal Mac Donncha 
Ray McHugh Naoise O'Muiri Damian O'Farrell 
Ciaran O'Moore Sonya Stapleton  
 
Officers   
Michael Gallagher Deirdre Ni Raghallaigh  
 
Apologies:    
Patrick Costello Anne Feeney  

Page 7



Page 8



Page 9





Page 11





Page 13





 
 

 

LG 07/2017 

 

 

15 November 2017 

 

Expenses and allowances of Local Authority Members  

 

 

Dear Chief Executive, 

 

I am directed by John Paul Phelan T.D., Minister of State at the Department of Housing, 

Planning and Local Government with special responsibility for Local Government and 

Electoral Reform to inform you that the payment of allowances and expenses incurred by 

elected members of local authorities have been revised in line with - 

 

I. the provisions of the Local Government (Expenses of Local Authority Members) 

(Amendment) Regulations 2017 (S.I. No. 494 of 2017), signed on 10 November 2017 

by the Minister of State at the Department of Housing, Planning and Local 

Government with special responsibility for Local Government and Electoral Reform 

with the consent of the Minister for Finance and Public Expenditure and Reform, 

which give effect to the announcement made by former Minister Coveney earlier this 

year concerning the expenses and allowances of elected members as set out in circular 

LG 01/2017, and 

 

II. the revision of motor travel rates by the Minister for Finance and Public Expenditure 

and Reform, as set out in circular 05/2017 issued by the Department of Public 

Expenditure and Reform on 6 March 2017. 

 

The directions set out in this circular concerning the payment of expenses are issued under 

article 17 of the Local Government (Expenses of Local Authority Members) Regulations 2014 

(S.I. No. 236 of 2017).  

 

The main amendments are as follows: 

 

 A new allowance has been created for members of municipal districts and area 

committees worth €1,000 per annum (or €500 for 2017) to reflect additional work 

carried out by elected members under the reformed local government structures given 

statutory effect under the local government reforms of 2014; and 

 

 A new vouched annual expenses allowance is being introduced as an alternative 

option to the existing fixed annual rate for miscellaneous expenses. Members may 

choose to continue to claim the fixed annual rate on an unvouched basis or opt for the 

Page 15



2 
 

new vouched allowance. The maximum amount payable in vouched expenses shall 

not exceed €5,000 per annum (or €2,500 per annum for 2017) to each individual 

Member. The categories for eligible expenditure are further set out in Part I, Schedule 

A of the enclosed directions. 

 

Your attention is drawn to the fact that the Regulations were amended on 10 November 2017 

but the amending provisions apply retrospectively to 1 July 2017. It will be necessary for 

local authorities to apply these measures retrospectively with effect from 1 July 2017. The 

amounts payable should be applied on a pro rata basis for 2017.   

 

A new vouched accommodation overnight rate is also being introduced to apply where elected 

members are required to stay overnight in County Dublin (similar to that which already applies 

to employees). In such cases the vouched costs of the Dublin accommodation up to a limit of 

the standard overnight rate plus the day rate for meals may be claimed. 

 

In addition the annual travel rate for the annual expenses allowance will be revised with 

effect from 1 January 2018 so as to align it with the general travel rates set by the Minister 

for Finance and Public Expenditure and Reform.  

 

A copy of this circular should be given to each elected member. Any enquiries about the 

contents of this circular and the directions attached to it should be directed to Grant Couper at 

grant.couper@housing.gov.ie or Gary Mc Guinn at gary.mcguinn@housing.gov.ie . 

 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 

 
_________________ 

Gary Mc Guinn 

Local Government Oversight and Governance   

 

To each Chief Executive    

 

Cc:    AILG and LAMA 

Page 16

mailto:grant.couper@housing.gov.ie
mailto:gary.mcguinn@housing.gov.ie


Appendix I 

 

 

Allowances for expenses incurred by elected members of local authorities 

 

 

 

Directions 

 

Issued by the 

Minister of State at the Department of Housing, Planning and Local Government with 

special responsibility for Local Government and Electoral Reform 

 

under Article 17 of the 

 

 

Local Government (Expenses of Local Authority Members) Regulations 2014-2017 

(S.I. No. 236 of 2014 & S.I. No. 494 of 2017) 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



2 
 

Introduction 

 

The following are directions given by the Minister of State at the Department of Housing, 

Planning and Local Government with special responsibility for Local Government and 

Electoral Reform under article 17 of the Local Government (Expenses of Local Authority 

Members) Regulations 2014-2017 (S.I. No. 236 of 2014 & S.I. No. 494 of 2017).   

 

The directions should be read in conjunction with section 142 (as amended) of the Local 

Government Act 2001 generally with respect to expenses, and with section 143 with respect 

to any allowances for chairpersons, and the fore-mentioned Regulations.  They replace all 

previous directions regarding expenses and allowances of elected members. 

 

Contents 

 

Part I  Rates and Rules in relation to Annual Expenses Allowances 

 

  Schedule A  Expenditure Categories for Vouched Annual Expenses 

 

Part II Rates and Rules in relation to Travelling and Subsistence Expenses 

Allowances 

 

 Schedule A Scale of Motor Travel Rates to be applied for the purposes of 

Travelling Expenses Allowances 

 

 Schedule B Scale of Subsistence Rates to be applied for Subsistence 

Expenses Allowances 

 

  Schedule C Declaration 

 

Part III  Rates and rules in respect of mobile phone allowance  

 

Part IV Allowances for certain Chairpersons  

and Members of Municipal Districts and Area Committees 

 

Part V  Allowances for Expenses for Attendance at Conferences and Training 

 

Part VI  General Rules in respect of the Allowances 

 

 

Page 18



3 
 

Part I 

 

Rates and Rules in relation to Annual Expenses Allowances 

 

1. Rates 

    (1) The rates that apply for the purpose of calculating an annual expenses allowance under    

    Part II of the Regulations shall be as follows:- 

 

(a) The existing annual travel rate of 60.88 cent per kilometre shall continue to apply 

until 31 December 2017 for the purposes of subparagraph (i) of paragraphs (a), 

(b), (c) and (d) respectively of article 5(1) of the Regulations.  

 

      The annual travel rates which shall apply from 1 January 2018 for the purposes of    

      subparagraph (i) of paragraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d) respectively of article 5(1) of   

      the Regulations shall be aligned with the general travel rates set by the Minister     

      for Finance and Public Expenditure and Reform as follows: - 

 

  (i) 44.79 cent per km for the first 1,500 kilometres,  

 (ii) 83.53 cent per km from 1,501 kilometres up to 5,500 kilometres,  

 (iii) 32.21 cent per km for 5,501 kilometres and over, and 

 (iv) 25.85 cent per km for 25,001 kilometres and over 

 

The distance travelled shall be determined based on the total accumulated 

“relevant distance” under article 5(2) of the Regulations and the total distance 

should then be split between the relevant bands. 

 

For example, a Member who lives 26km for the headquarters of their local 

authority with a travel index of 110 would have a relevant distance of 2,860km 

per annum (26km x 110 travel index). The travel rate of 44.79 cent per km would 

apply for the first 1,500km of this distance. The travel rate of 83.53 cent per km 

would then apply for the remaining 1,360km. Total payment per annum:  

(1,500 @ 44.79 = €671.85) + (1,360 @ 83.53 = €1,135.87) = €1,807.72  

 

(b) The annual subsistence rate which shall apply for the purposes of subparagraph  

(ii) of paragraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d) respectively of article 5(1) of the Regulations 

shall be €33.61.  

 

(c) The fixed annual rate which shall apply for the purposes of subparagraph (iii) of 

paragraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d) respectively of article 5(1) of the Regulations shall 

be €2,286, €2,413, €2,540 and €2,667. 

 

     (2)  Annual expenses allowances under Part II of the Regulations shall be paid in  

 instalments following the end of each month or of such greater period as the local  

authority may decide. Local authorities may choose to pay the annual travel rate in 

equal instalments based on the total relevant distance to be accumulated over the year.  

 

2. Vouched Annual Expenses 
(1) With effect from 1 July 2017, members may choose to opt for claiming vouched 

annual expenses instead of being paid the fixed annual rate. It is a matter for each 

Page 19



4 
 

individual Member to choose if he or she wants to continue to claim the unvouched 

fixed annual rate or forego this payment to instead claim vouched annual expenses.  

 

(2) The maximum amount that may be claimed in vouched annual expenses per calendar 

year is €5,000 (or €2,500 for the period 1 July to 31 December 2017). This shall be 

paid in instalments following the end of each month or of such greater period as the 

local authority may decide.  
 

(3) All expenses must be incurred within the relevant period. Expenses incurred before 1 

July 2017 are not eligible. Annual expenses incurred for 2017 may be allowed on a 

pro-rata basis e.g. in the case of an annual fee being paid by a member for 2017 for 

webhosting then only 50% of this would be allowable covering the period July to 

December.   

 
(4) Expenditure incurred by a member must be wholly and exclusively incurred in the 

performance of his or her duties as a member and should not include any personal 

element of expenditure. The expenses must fall within one of the categories set out 

under Schedule A to Part I of these directions. 

 

(5) Members who choose to claim vouched expenses for the period 1 July 2017 - 31 

December 2017 must provide written notification to the local authority within 10 

working days of the issuing of this circular. In subsequent years such written 

notification must be provided at least 10 working days before the end of January.  

 

In cases where Members wish to claim vouched expenses for the period 1 July 2017 -

31 December 2017 it will be necessary for local authorities to deduct the total amount 

of unvouched fixed annual rate monthly payments made to date in respect of this 

period from the total amount of vouched expenses being claimed.   

 

(6) Members who decide to claim vouched annual expenses must commit for the entirety 

of the relevant period. Members may not revert to the fixed annual rate during this 

time. At the conclusion of each period, members may again choose between claiming 

a fixed annual rate or vouched annual expenses for the subsequent period.  

 

(7) Members claiming vouched annual expenses must be able to provide bills, invoices, 

receipts and other relevant documentation for expenses they have incurred. The 

invoices should state the specific details of the type of service purchased. Proof of 

payment should confirm that the payment was made by the Member. The relevant 

documentation (originals not copies) should be submitted promptly by members to the 

local authority after the end of each month. Members are advised to retain copies of 

relevant documentation submitted. 

 

(8) The documentation submitted and associated payments may be reviewed by the 

internal audit of the local authority or the Local Government Audit Service. 
 

      (9) It is the responsibility of members to ensure that only relevant documentation relating 

to eligible expenditure allowed under Schedule A to Part I of these directions is 

submitted. Members will be required to reimburse the local authority in cases where 

payment has issued against expenses that are later found to be ineligible.   

 

Page 20



5 
 

3. Attendance 

(1) As set out in Part II of the Expenses Regulations, the annual expenses allowance for 

elected members comprises three elements - (1) travel, (2) subsistence and (3) an 

unvouched fixed rate allowance in respect of miscellaneous expenses or a vouched 

expenses allowance in respect of certain categories of miscellaneous expenditure.  

The attendance requirement for the travel and subsistence elements is 80% and the 

attendance requirement for the final element i.e. miscellaneous expenses is 50%.  Full 

payment of the miscellaneous element is payable for attendance by a member at 50% 

or more of the total number of meetings which that member was due to attend (i.e. 

“relevant meetings” of the full council, of municipal district members, and of 

committees, joint committees and joint policing committees of which he or she is a 

member).  Where a member attends less than 50% of the total number of due 

meetings, then the proportion of the miscellaneous element payable shall be 

proportionate to the number of meetings attended.  If for example 20 meetings are 

attended when 30 meetings is the 50% threshold, then 20/30 of the miscellaneous 

element is payable.  

 

(2) The calculation of the 80% attendance threshold and of the amount of the allowance 

when less than 80% attendance is achieved should accord with the rules as set out at 

paragraphs (c) and (d) below. 

 

(3) In determining eight tenths of the due number of meetings, any fraction of the number 

of meetings shall be disregarded.  If for example the total number of meetings which a 

member was due to attend in the period was 47 then eight tenths of such number of 

meetings is 47 x 
8
/10 = 37

6
/10 or 37.6.  In this example, the fraction should be totally 

disregarded (i.e. it should not be rounded up to 38 meetings) so that full payment of 

the allowance is available for attendance at 37 meetings.   

 

(4) In calculating the amount of the travel and subsistence element of the allowance 

payable when a member attends less than eight tenths of the due number of meetings, 

any fraction or percentage point should be rounded up.  So that if for example a 

member attends 26 meetings when the relevant number of meetings for full payment 

of the travelling and subsistence element is 37 meetings, then the proportion of the 

travelling and subsistence element payable is 26/37 or 70.3% of the maximum 

entitlement.  In such instance, the 70.3% should be rounded up to 71% and this 

percentage of the allowance is payable. This will apply to every percentage point (i.e. 

.1 to .9). 

 

(5) The rules at (3) and (4) above should also apply in the case of calculations arising as 

regards the reduced attendance threshold at paragraph (1) above. 

 

(6) With regard to the level of payment where the number of meetings is below the index 

figure used in the formula for calculating the annual allowance,  the position remains 

that once 80% or upwards of the relevant number of meetings (i.e. meetings of full 

council and municipal district members plus meetings of committees, joint 

committees and joint policing committees of which the person is a member) are 

attended the member qualifies for the full allowance determined in accordance with 

the formula.   

 

Page 21



6 
 

(7) It is entirely a matter for the local authority to determine the actual number of 

meetings.  Arrangements should be in place to ensure they are prepared and organised 

in a business-like manner and conducted efficiently and effectively so as to minimise 

demands.  Procedures should continue to be reviewed periodically to identify any 

changes in existing arrangements, which may lead to improvements in this regard. 

 

(8) Attendance at meetings of any body that the member has been nominated onto in their 

capacity as an elected member shall not be included in the calculation in the 

determination of the actual number of meetings for which an allowance is paid (e.g. 

heritage committees). 

Page 22



7 
 

Schedule A 

 

Expenditure Categories for Vouched Annual Expenses 

(Paragraph 2 of Part I refers) 

 

Expenditure Categories 

 

Allowable Documentation 

Purchase or maintenance 

of home office furniture 

or equipment 

Home office furniture and 

equipment normally required for 

the running of a home office 

 

Equipment can include cost of 

purchase, rental and 

maintenance of any office 

equipment including tablet 

PCs (such as iPads) and IT 

equipment (such as laptops) 

provided such equipment has 

not already been provided by the 

local authority  

 

Charges levied by the local 

authority ICT section for IT 

connection or support  

 

The bills/invoices should 

specify the details of the 

purchase of the furniture and 

equipment that will indicate it 

is for home office use, date 

and amounts to be paid 

 

Proof of payment of the bill / 

invoice for the relevant period 

Purchase of stationery Stationery that is not provided 

by the local authority required 

for the performance of his or her 

duties as a Member 

The bills/invoices should 

specify the details of the 

purchase of the stationery that 

will indicate it is for office 

use, date and amounts to be 

paid. 

 

Proof of payment of the bill/ 

invoice for the relevant period 

 

A sample of stationery should 

also be retained for 

examination 

 

Web hosting and other 

related costs 

Invoices for web hosting, web 

design and other related costs 

 

The bill/invoice with the date 

and amount of the service/ 

product must specify details to 

show it is for use in relation to 

duties as a Member 

 

Proof of payment of the 

bill/invoice for the relevant 

period 

 

 

Page 23



8 
 

Expenditure Categories 

 

Allowable Documentation 

Hiring rooms for clinics 

or other meetings 

 

The hire cost of rooms in any 

location or premises for the 

purpose of clinics or meetings 

with the general public in the 

performance of his/her functions 

as a member 

  

The bill/invoice for the room 

hire including name, address 

and date of each event 

 

List of events to indicate that 

the purpose of room hire was 

for his/her functions as a 

member 

 

Proof of payment of the 

bill/invoice for the relevant 

period 

 

Leaflet and newsletter 

printing and distribution 

 

Printing of leaflets and 

newsletters for the performance 

of his/her functions as a member 

that is not otherwise facilitated 

by the use of the printing 

facilities of the local authority 

and subject to the same 

conditions as the local authority 

may apply regarding the use of 

its own printing facilities  

 

Distribution of leaflets and 

newsletters for the performance 

of his/her functions as a member 

 

The bill/invoice for the 

services including name, 

address and date of each 

publication or distribution 

 

Samples to indicate that the 

content was for the 

performance of his/her 

functions as a member 

attached to each invoice 

 

Proof of payment of the 

bill/invoice for the relevant 

period 

Advertising relating to 

the performance of 

his/her functions as a 

member 

 

Advertising costs only 

(excluding graphic design and 

photography) 

 

All forms of media can be used 

(incl. newspapers, newsletters, 

radio, online, window space, 

signage, social media, etc) 

 

Content is limited to the 

Member’s name, address, clinic 

times or title of the meeting, 

venue and date 

 

Copies of the advertisement 

and the publication in which it 

appears to indicate that the 

content was for the 

performance of his/her 

functions as a member 

 

Invoices for services including 

name, address, company 

office registration number, 

charitable status number, 

where applicable 

 

Proof of payment of the 

invoice/bill, the dates on 

which the promotion occurred 

must be indicated on the 

invoice 

 

Page 24



9 
 

Expenditure Categories 

 

Allowable Documentation 

Purchase of secretarial 

support  

 

Secretarial support provided by 

an agency worker from an 

employment agency licensed by 

the Workplace Relations 

Commission (WRC)
1
 

 

Invoices for the services 

provided including name, 

address, licence number of the 

employment agency and 

description of services 

provided 

 

Proof of payment of expenses 

incurred 

 

 

The following expenditure is not allowable under any of the categories listed above. 

 Rent, rates, utilities or other charges for office accommodation 

 Electoral expenses for election to political office or referenda 

 Services purchased from a person who is on the payroll of a local authority 

 Expenses incurred which are covered by other allowances set out under these 

directions (mobile telephones, attendance at conferences, etc)  

                                                 
1
 An agency worker is a person who has an agreement with an employment agency to work for 

another person. Agency workers have the right to equal treatment in basic working and employment 

conditions under the Protection of Employees (Temporary Agency Work) Act 2012. Employment 

agencies are regulated by the Employment Agency Act 1971. Under the Act, an employment agency 

must have a licence to operate its business. A list of licensed employment agencies is available on the 

website of the Workplace Relations Commission. 

https://www.workplacerelations.ie/en/What_You_Should_Know/Employment_Agencies/ 

Page 25

http://www.irishstatutebook.ie/2012/en/act/pub/0013/index.html
http://www.irishstatutebook.ie/1971/en/act/pub/0027/index.html
https://www.workplacerelations.ie/en/What_You_Should_Know/Employment_Agencies/


10 
 

Part II 

 

Rates and Rules in relation to Travelling and Subsistence Expenses Allowances 

 

1. Scale of travel rates 

(1) Subject to these rules, the scale of motor travel rates which shall be applied for (other 

than the annual expenses allowances) the purposes of travelling expenses allowances 

in accordance with article 8 of the Regulations shall be as set out in Schedule A to this 

Part. 

 

(2) The motor travel rates referred to in subparagraph (1) shall be payable where it is 

necessary for a member to use a private car for a journey or part of a journey in 

respect of which the use of public transport is not practicable, in respect of each 

kilometre travelled along the shortest route by which the member could reasonably be 

expected to travel, between the member’s official residence and the place at which the 

event or events concerned is or are located. 

 

(3) The motor travel rate applying to a particular member will be dependent on the car 

engine capacity of the member concerned 

 

2. Class of public transport travel 

Where it is practicable to travel by bus or rail, the allowance to be paid shall not be greater 

than the first class (or equivalent) fare payable in respect of the journey concerned. 

 

3. Use of Private Car 

Where a member uses a private car for the purpose of a journey or part of a journey for which 

the use of public transport would have been practicable, the travelling expenses allowance to 

be paid to the member shall not exceed the cost of public transport (or the sum of the cost of 

public transport and travel expenses where public transport was available for part of the 

journey only).  Where public transport is available for part of a journey only, the local 

authority shall determine, having regard to the circumstances in each case, whether such use 

would have been practicable.  Where two or more members travel in the same private car, the 

estimated cost of public transport for the purposes of this paragraph shall be increased by the 

amount of travelling expenses allowance which would otherwise have been payable in 

accordance with paragraphs 1 or 2 of this Part by the local authority to the additional 

member(s). 

 

4. Use of Hired Car 

Where it is necessary for a member to use a hired vehicle for a journey or part of a journey in 

respect of which the use of public transport is not practicable, the travelling expenses 

allowance to be paid to the member in respect of the use of the hired vehicle shall not exceed 

the lesser of the vouched cost of such use or the maximum fare fixed for such use (or, where 

no such maximum fare applies, the amount which might reasonably be paid, in respect of 

such use). 

 

5. Two or more members travelling in same car 

Where two or more members travel in the same private car, a travelling expenses allowance 

may only be paid to one member in respect of that journey except insofar as it might be 

necessary for another member to use a separate means of transport for part of the journey.  

Page 26



11 
 

The total amount of travelling expenses allowances payable shall not exceed the total amount 

which would be payable in respect of the journey if the members had travelled separately. 

 

6. Only one travelling allowance per journey 

A local authority shall not pay more than one travelling allowance to a member in respect of 

the same journey and shall not pay any travelling allowance to a member in respect of any 

journey or part of a journey in respect of which an allowance is paid by, or is payable by, or 

is claimed from, another public authority. 

 

7. Attendance at more than one matter 

(1) Where a member attends more than one matter to which Part IV or Part V of the 

Regulations applies on the same day, the distance in respect of which a travelling 

allowance shall be paid shall, subject to subparagraph (2), be the shortest overall route 

by which the member could reasonably be expected to travel between the member’s 

official residence and the location of the matters concerned. 

 

(2) Where a member who attends a matter to which Part IV or Part V of the Regulations 

applies returns to his or her official residence and travels thence on the same day to 

the same matter or another such matter or matters, the total travelling and subsistence 

allowances to be paid shall be the lesser of – 

 

(a) the amounts payable on the basis of the actual journeys and periods of absence 

in connection with the said matters, or 

 

(b) the amounts which would be payable if the member did not return to his or her 

official residence. 

 

(3) Where, on the same day, a member attends a matter or matters to which Part IV or 

Part V of the Regulations applies and a matter or matters of the type referred to in 

article 7(2) of the Regulations, a travelling expenses allowance under article 8 of the 

Regulations shall only be payable in respect of any additional distance which it was 

necessary for the member to travel by reason of attendance at the matter to which Part 

IV or Part V of the Regulations applies over and above the distance which the 

member would reasonably have been expected to travel by reason of attendance only 

at the other matter or matters. 

 

8. Attendance at conferences and training locally or regionally 

Where a conference or training event for the purposes of Part V of the Regulations is 

organised within the area of more than one local authority, or more than one Regional 

Assembly area or other regional basis, or where the elected members attends at training listed 

at 2 (1)(b) to (f) under “Courses for which expenses may be paid” at Part VB of these 

Directions, the travel and subsistence payments shall be those applicable for attendance at the 

event organised within the local authority area or the area of the Regional Assembly, or other 

regional basis.  Where the elected member attends at an event of than the event the local 

authority area or the area of the Regional Assembly or other regional basis, the payments 

shall be calculated on the lesser of the expenses payable for attendance at the actual event and 

the expenses payable for attending the event organised within the local authority area or the 

area of the Regional Assembly, or other regional basis, as appropriate. 

 

 

Page 27



12 
 

9. Scale of subsistence rates 

The scale of subsistence rates which shall be applied for the purpose of subsistence expenses 

allowances in accordance with article 9 of the Regulations shall, subject to these rules, be as 

set out in Schedule B to this Part. 

 

(1) A local authority may, subject to these rules, pay an overnight domestic subsistence 

allowance in accordance with the rate set out in Schedule B to this Part to a member 

who by reason of a matter to which Part IV or Part V of the Regulations applies, is 

obliged to spend a night away from home and could not reasonably be expected to have 

returned home.  

 

(2) An overnight domestic subsistence allowance will not generally be payable in respect of 

attendance at an event that is within 100 km of a member’s home or headquarters 

(whichever is the lesser).  However, where a local authority is satisfied that an 

operational need exists, an overnight allowance may be paid for attendance at an event 

at a location within 100 km but in excess of 50 km of home or headquarters.   

 

(3) In recognition of difficulties in sourcing suitable accommodation in Dublin within the 

standard overnight rate, it has been agreed that a separate vouched accommodation 

overnight rate may apply where members are required to stay overnight in County 

Dublin. In such cases the vouched costs of the Dublin accommodation up to a limit of 

the standard overnight rate plus the day rate for meals may be claimed. 

 

(4) An overnight domestic subsistence allowance shall cover a period of up to 24 hours 

from the time of departure of the member from his or her official residence. 

 

(5) A day subsistence allowance and an overnight subsistence allowance shall not both be 

paid in respect of the same period of absence save where an overnight absence exceeds 

24 hours (or, where an absence includes more than one night, a multiple of 24 hours) by 

not less than three hours. 

 

(6) A day allowance is not payable for an attendance on official business that is within 8 

km of an elected member’s headquarters or home (whichever is the lesser). 

 

10. Return by member to official residence 

Where a member who attends a matter to which Part IV or Part V of the Regulations applies 

on two or more consecutive days returns to his or her official residence overnight instead of 

remaining overnight at the location of the event, the total travelling and subsistence expenses 

allowances to be paid shall be the lesser of – 

 

(a) the amounts payable on the basis of the actual distances travelled and periods of 

absence in connection with the matter, or 

(b) the amounts which would be payable if the member remained overnight at the 

location of the matter instead of returning to his or her official residence. 

 

11. Only one subsistence allowance payable 

A local authority shall not pay more than one subsistence expenses allowance to a member in 

respect of the same period of absence and shall not pay any subsistence allowance to a 

member in respect of any period or part of a period in respect of which an allowance is paid 

by, or is payable by, or is claimed from, another public authority or other body. 

Page 28



13 
 

 

12. Attendance at more than one matter  

(1) Where, on the same day, a member attends a matter or matters to which Part IV or 

Part V of the Regulations applies and a matter or matters of the type referred to in 

article 7 (c) of the Regulations, a subsistence expenses allowance under article 9 of 

the Regulations shall only be payable in respect of any portion of such period of such 

absence attributable solely to the member’s attendance at the matter or matters to 

which Part IV or Part V of the Regulations applies including any travelling time 

reckonable in accordance with subparagraph (2). 

(2) For the purposes of subparagraph (1), the length of travelling time which may be 

included shall not exceed the length of time which the member spent or could 

reasonably be expected to have spent in travelling the distance in respect of which 

travelling expenses allowances are payable in accordance with the Regulations and 

these rules. 

 

13. Recoupment of costs 

Where a claim in respect of travelling or subsistence expenses allowances includes a claim 

for recoupment of costs incurred by a member, the amount of such costs which may be 

recouped by the authority to such member shall not be greater than the amount of such 

expenses reasonably incurred in accordance with the Regulations and these rules and for 

which satisfactory evidence in the form of all relevant receipts, tickets or other appropriate 

vouchers is furnished. 

 

14. Fee for attendance at event 

Where a local authority pays a fee in respect of the attendance of a member at a conference or 

other event to which Part IV or Part V of the Regulations applies or recoups the cost of such 

fee to such member, it may, insofar as appropriate take account, in the determination of any 

subsistence expenses allowance, of any subsistence covered by such fee and availed of by the 

member. 

 

15. Travel outside the State 

Where it is necessary for a member to travel outside the State for the purpose of a matter to 

which Part IV of the Regulations applies - 

(1) the local authority shall, where practicable, make the necessary arrangements, having 

regard to the need to minimise cost, 

 

(2) the local authority may pay a subsistence expenses allowance to the member in 

respect of the reasonable costs incurred by the member (excluding any costs incurred 

by the authority), in accordance with the scales of subsistence expenses allowances 

for the time being approved by the Minister for officers of local authorities travelling 

abroad, 

 

(3) where it is necessary for the member to make arrangements, the member shall have 

regard to the need to minimise cost and where the member pays the cost of a travel 

fare, the local authority may recoup the reasonable cost thereof to the member and the 

amount recouped shall not exceed the fare indicated on the ticket purchased and used 

in respect of the journey undertaken by such member and for which recoupment is 

sought. 

 

Page 29



14 
 

16. Expenses payable or recoupable by any other person 

A local authority shall not pay any travelling or subsistence expenses allowance or recoup 

any cost to a member in respect of any matter or any particular journey or part of a journey, 

or period of time, or item of expense which has been paid or recouped by, or is payable or 

recoupable by, any other person or body to such member or which has been claimed from any 

other person or body by such member. 

 

Where a member is attending a conference or absent for more than three hours and where a 

meal is provided to the member by any other body, or as part of the conference fee no 

subsistence allowance will be payable in respect of this period. 

 

Where meals have been provided the following deductions from the overnight/day rates 

should be applied; 

 

 Where lunch or dinner is provided – deduct a three hour rate 

 Where both lunch and dinner is provided – deduct a seven hour rate 

 Where breakfast is provided – deduct half the three hour rate 

 

17. Expenses covered by another allowance 

A local authority shall not pay any expenses allowance under regulations 8 or 9 of the 

Regulations (other than any allowance payable under paragraph 15 of this Part of the 

Appendix) in respect of any expenses covered by an allowance under section 143 of the Act 

(i.e. to a Cathaoirleach or Leas Cathaoirleach of a local authority or municipal district). 

 

18. Expenses allowances for committee members who are not local authority members 

(1) An expenses allowance to a member of a committee or joint policing committee under 

article 10 of the Regulations (i.e. where the person concerned is not a member of a local 

authority) shall be payable by the local authority by which such member was appointed.  

 

(2) These rules shall, insofar as applicable, apply in respect of persons to whom article 10 

of the Regulations applies in the same way as they apply to a member of a local 

authority. 

 

19. Need to claim travelling or subsistence expenses allowances 

(1) A local authority shall not make any payment to a member in respect of travelling or 

subsistence expenses allowances under regulations 8 or 9 of the Regulations  unless the 

member has furnished to it a claim for such expenses, in such form as the local 

authority shall determine and containing Schedule C to this Part and                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

containing such other statements (if any) as the local authority may determine 

(including, if the local authority so requires, proof of attendance at the event for which 

expenses are claimed). 

 

(2) Where a claim in respect of travelling or subsistence expenses allowances includes a 

claim for recoupment of costs incurred by a member, the claim shall be accompanied by 

all relevant receipts, tickets or other appropriate vouchers in respect of such costs. 

 

(3) A local authority shall not consider a claim in respect of travelling or subsistence 

expenses allowances unless all necessary information relating thereto has been duly 

furnished. 

 

Page 30



15 
 

(4) The claim form provided for at sub-paragraph (1) shall seek such particulars that will 

enable a local authority ensure that elected members – 

 

(a) provide all such details relevant to a claim as are sufficient to allow a local 

authority to make payment of only such allowances as relates to travel away from 

home on official business, and 

 

(b) provide such details as would be required to distinguish between travel expenses 

incurred for official business purposes and for other business or personal 

purposes. 

 

20. Non-entitlement to claim 

(1) A member shall not be entitled to take a particular journey or part of a journey, or a 

particular period of time or any other item into account for the purposes of more than 

one claim in respect of a travelling or subsistence expenses allowance and a member 

shall not make a claim from a local authority in respect of any matter or any particular 

journey or part of a journey, or period of time or item of expense which has been paid 

or recouped by, or is payable or recoupable by, any other local authority or person to 

such member or which has been claimed from any other local authority, person or body 

by such member. 

 

a) Where two or more members travel in the same vehicle in connection with a matter 

to which Part IV or Part V of the Regulations apply, not more than one such 

member may claim a travelling expenses allowance in respect of that journey except 

insofar as it is necessary for a member to use a separate means of transport for part 

of the journey. 

 

b) Where a member is attending a conference or absent for more than three hours and 

where a meal is provided to the member by any other body, or as part of the 

conference fee no subsistence allowance will be payable in respect of this period. 

 

c) Where meals have been provided the following deductions from the overnight/day 

rates should be applied; 

 

1. Where lunch or dinner is provided – deduct a three hour rate 

2. Where both lunch and dinner is provided – deduct a seven hour rate 

3. Where breakfast is provided – deduct half the three hour rate 

 

d) Where an elected member has engaged in activity in respect of business or 

personal purposes in the same period, details in that regard shall be provided to 

the local authority. 

 

21. Public Register 

(1) A public register of attendances and payments under Section 142 and 143 shall be 

kept.  

 

(2) Members’ attention should be drawn to the requirements of section 141(1A) of the 

2001 Act, as inserted by section 53(1) of the 2014 Act.  This requires members to 

notify the local authority of attendance at all meetings of bodies to which he or she 

was elected, appointed or nominated by the authority.  This report is required to be 

Page 31



16 
 

presented within 15 working days of the end of each quarter (end-March, June, 

September and December), and provide details of any payments made to the member 

by and on behalf of that body, including mileage details if payment of expenses for 

travel by private vehicle is made.  The payments to be reported would include all 

payments by the body to which the elected member was elected, appointed or 

nominated (e.g. attendance at meetings, conferences etc on behalf of the body).   

 

(3) The information provided by the elected member must be published in the public 

register at subparagraph (1) above (section 142(4)(ga) of the 2001 Act, inserted by 

section 53(2)(b) of the 2014 Act). 

 

(4) The local authority may use these notifications from the elected members to ensure no 

double payments where expenses are met by the other body. 

 

(5) The register should be maintained on the council website, and it would be good 

practice to update this at least quarterly. 

 

22. Irish Public Bodies Mutual Insurances Ltd 

Expenses separate from members annual allowance may be paid for attendance at the AGM 

of the Irish Public Bodies Mutual Insurances Ltd., subject to authorisation by the authority in 

accordance with these directions. 

 

 

Page 32



17 
 

Schedule A 

 

Scale of Motor Travel Rates to be applied for the purposes of 

Travelling Expenses Allowances 

 

(Paragraph 1 of Part II refers) 

 

 

 

Scale A 

Motor Travel Rates per kilometre (effective from 1 April 2017) 

 

Official Motor Travel 

in a calendar year 

Engine Capacity 

Up to 1,200cc 

Engine Capacity 

1,201cc to 1,500cc 

Engine Capacity 

1,501cc and over 

0 - 1,500 km 37.95 cent 39.86 cent 44.79 cent 

1,501 - 5,500 km 70.00 cent 73.21 cent 83.53 cent 

5,501 – 25,000 km  27.55 cent 29.03 cent 31.21 cent 

25,001 km and over 21.36 cent 22.23 cent 25.85 cent 

 

 

 

Travel rates, which apply to officials, should be applied for the purposes of computing 

members’ annual allowances.  In future any changes to the travel rate of local authority 

officials should be applied automatically to members’ travel rates from the same effective 

date as for officials in the case of Ad Hoc travel.  

  

Page 33



18 
 

Schedule B 

 

(Paragraph 9 of Part II) 

 

Scale of Subsistence Rates to be applied for purposes of 

Subsistence Expenses Allowances 

 

 

Domestic Subsistence Rates (effective from 1 April 2017) 

 

Overnight Rates  Day Rates 

 

 

€ 

 

Absence of seven hours 

or more (€) 

Absence of three hours 

or more but less than 

seven hours (€) 

 

 

133.73 

 

33.61 

 

14.01 

 

 

The day rate which applies for officials’ absence of 10 hours or more should be applied for 

the purposes of computing members’ annual allowances.   

 

In future any changes to the subsistence rate of local authority officials should be applied 

automatically to members’ subsistence rates from the same effective date as for officials in 

the case of Ad Hoc travel and for the purposes of the annual subsistence rate of the annual 

expenses allowance.  

 
 

Vouched Accommodation Domestic Subsistence Rate for use in Dublin only 

(Effective from 1 April 2017) 

 

 

Vouched Accommodation in County Dublin 

 

  

Meals 

 

Vouched cost of accommodation up to €133.73 

 

Plus 

 

€33.61 

 

Page 34



19 
 

Schedule C 

 

(Paragraph 19 of Part II refers) 

 

Declaration by a person claiming expenses 

 

I declare that – 

 

a) I have necessarily incurred expenditure on travel and subsistence in respect of my 

authorised attendance at .................................................................................................... as 

authorised by ............................................................. council/municipal district (delete as 

required) at its meeting on .............. 20....; 

 

b) My hours of attendance at the aforementioned event were from ……………. to 

……………; 

 

c) My total estimated expenditure at the aforementioned event (i.e. the amount being 

recouped from the local authority amounts to €…………….; 

 

d) I have made the payments (if any) shown on the attached claim form (tickets/receipts and 

other relevant vouchers are attached); 

 

e) This claim, which includes details of activity incurred in respect of business or personal 

purposes in the same period but excludes a claim for any costs in respect of these 

business or personal activities, is made strictly in accordance with the Local Government 

(Expenses of Local Authority Members) Regulations 2014-2017, the Directions and the 

General Rules made by the Minister for the Housing, Planning and Local Government 

thereunder; 

 

f) The statements and particulars furnished herein are complete and accurate in all respects; 

 

g) No other payment has been made to me or is payable to me in respect of the time(s), 

journey(s) or other matters set out herein;   

 

h) I have not made, and will not make, any other claim for payment in respect of the time(s), 

journeys or other matters set out herein; 

 

Name of member (Block Capitals) ___________________________________________ 

 

Signature of member __________________________________________     

 

Date ______________________ 

 

 

Page 35



20 
 

Part III 

 

 

Rules in respect of Mobile Telephone Allowance 

 

 

A mobile telephone allowance under Part III of the Regulations shall be payable 

to a member in relation to the carrying-out of his or her duties as a member 

subject to the following –  

 

1. Local authorities shall, in the first instance, seek the most economical options 

either by negotiating a contract for the provision of mobile voice and data services 

(“bundle”) for its elected members or including elected members in the local 

authority’s own contracted bundle for such services.  Only in the event a cheaper 

option not being available should an allowance in accordance with paragraph 2 

below be considered.  Local authorities shall be required to document and retain 

details of all costings to demonstrate that payment of an allowance is the cheaper 

option. 

 

2. An annual allowance of 50% of total vouched mobile phone costs associated with 

the public duties of a member of a local authority may be paid, subject to a 

maximum allowance of €600 per annum and subject to paragraph 1 above. 

 

3. If in any year a person is a member of a local authority for a period less than the 

full period of that year, the mobile telephone expenses allowance payable to such 

person by the authority shall be proportionate to the period of the year during 

which the person is a member, or, as appropriate, the local authority bundle for 

mobile phone and data services shall cease when the person is no longer a member 

of the authority. 

 

Page 36



21 
 

Part IV 

Allowances for certain Chairpersons  

and Members of Municipal Districts and Area Committees 

 

Allowances to Cathaoirligh and Leas-Chathaoirligh of Local Authorities, 

Cathaoirligh of Municipal Districts  

and Chairpersons of Strategic Policy Committees 

 

1. The allowance the local authority may decide to pay to the Cathaoirleach and 

Leas-Chathaoirleach of the local authority shall not exceed that set out in Part A 

in the Table to this Part.   

 

2. The allowance municipal district members may decide that may be paid to the 

Cathaoirleach of municipal district shall not exceed that set out in Part B in the 

Table to this Part.  No allowance shall be paid to the Leas-Chathaoirleach of a 

municipal district.   
 

3. A local authority may pay an annual allowance not exceeding €6,000 to a 

Chairperson of a Strategic Policy Committee. 
 

4. The allowances shall be paid in instalments following the end of each month or 

of such greater period as the local authority or municipal district members, as 

appropriate, may decide.  
 

5. The allowances are to cover all matters associated with the posts, including 

meetings of the Corporate Policy Group, meetings with local authority officials, 

or meetings with external groups. 
 

6. Where a member serves as a Cathaoirleach of a local authority, as a Leas-

Chathaoirleach  of a local authority, as a Cathaoirleach of a municipal district or 

as a Chairperson of a Strategic Policy Group for a period of less than the full 

twelve months, the amount of allowance payable shall be calculated on a pro 

rata basis for that period. 
 

7. The decision to pay an allowance and the amount of such allowance is, subject 

to the maximum amount specified in paragraphs 1 to 3 above, a matter for 

determination by the members of each local authority and municipal district, as 

appropriate. 
 

8. The amount of allowances payable under this Part shall be shown in the Annual 

Report in line with the requirements of the Act. 

 

Page 37



22 
 

Allowances to Members of Municipal Districts 

and Area Committees 

 
1. The allowance the local authority may decide to pay to members of 

municipal districts and area committees shall not exceed €1,000 per annum 
(or €500 for the period from 1 July 2017 to 31 December 2017). 

 
2. The allowance shall be paid in arrears at the end of year for 2017 in respect 

of the period 1 July 2017 to 31 December 2017. From 1 January 2018 the 
allowance shall be paid in instalments following the end of each month or of 
such greater period as the local authority or municipal district members, as 
appropriate, may decide.  

 
3. Where a member serves as a member of a municipal district for a period of 

less than the full twelve months, the amount of allowance payable shall be 
calculated on a pro rata basis for that period. 

 
4. The decision to pay an allowance and the amount of such allowance is, 

subject to the maximum amount specified in paragraph 1 above, a matter for 
determination by the members of each local authority. 

 
5. Based on prior consultation with the Revenue Commissioners, it is the 

understanding of the Department that this allowance will be liable for tax 
and PRSI in the normal way. This remains subject to a final ruling by the 
Revenue Commissioners. The Department will advise local authorities of this 
final ruling in due course. 

 
 

    

Page 38



23 
 

Table for Part IV 

 

Part A 

 

Maximum Amount of Allowances Payable to Cathaoirligh and Leas-

Chathaoirligh of Local Authorities under Section 143 of the 2001 Act 

 

Class of Local 

Authority 

Maximum 

Amount of 

Allowance 

Payable to 

Cathaoirleach 

Maximum Amount 

of Allowance 

Payable to Leas-

Chathaoirleach 

Local authorities 

(listed for 

information 

purposes) 

Local authorities 

with more than 

50 members: 

€50,000 per 

annum 

€10,000 per annum, or 

no more than one fifth 

of the allowance 

payable to the 

Cathaoirleach, if less 

 

Dublin City Council 

Cork County Council 

Local authorities 

with 30-40 

members 

€30,000 per 

annum 

€6,000 per annum, or 

no more than one fifth 

of the allowance 

payable to the 

Cathaoirleach, if less 

Donegal, Dun-

Laoghaire Rathdown, 

Fingal, Galway 

County, Kerry, 

Kildare, Mayo, Meath, 

South Dublin, 

Tipperary, Wexford, 

Wicklow County 

Councils; 

Limerick and 

Waterford City and 

County Councils; Cork 

City Council 

 

Local authorities 

with 18-29 

Members 

€20,000 per 

annum 

€4,000 per annum, or 

no more than one fifth 

of the allowance 

payable to the  

Cathaoirleach, if less 

Carlow, Cavan, Clare, 

Kilkenny, Laois, 

Leitrim, Longford, 

Louth, Monaghan, 

Offaly, Roscommon, 

Sligo, Westmeath 

County Councils; 

Galway City Council 

 

 

Page 39



24 
 

Part B 

 

Maximum Amount of Allowances Payable to Cathaoirligh of Municipal Districts 

under Section 143 of the 2001 Act  
 

Class of Municipal District Maximum 

Amount of 

Allowance 

Payable to 

Cathaoirleach 

Municipal Districts (listed for 

information purposes) 

Municipal District known as 

a Metropolitan District in 

accordance with section 

22A(2)(a) of the 2001 Act
2
 

€18,000 per 

annum 

Metropolitan Districts of 

Limerick and Waterford  

Municipal District known as 

a Borough District or as the 

Municipal District of 

Kilkenny City in accordance 

with section 22A(2)(b) and 

(c) of the 2001 Act, and a 

Municipal District described 

at section 32(1A)(c) of the 

2001 Act
3
 

€12,000 per 

annum 

Borough Districts of Clonmel, 

Drogheda, Sligo and Wexford; 

Municipal Districts of Athlone, 

Bray, Carlow, Celbridge-Leixlip, 

Dundalk, Ennis, Kildare-

Newbridge, Kilkenny City, 

Letterkenny, Mullingar, Naas, 

Navan and Tralee 

Municipal District other than 

the foregoing 

€6,000 per annum Remaining Municipal Districts 

 

No allowance is payable to the Leas-Chathaoirleach of a municipal district. 

 

                                                 
2
  Section 22A of the 2012 Act, as inserted by section 19 of the 2014 Act. 

 

3  As inserted by section 37(1) of the 2014 Act.  

Page 40



25 
 

  

Part V 

 

Allowances for Expenses for Attendance at Conferences and Training 

 

A.   Allowances for expenses for attendance at conferences 

 

1 Introduction 

(1) Article 11 of the Local Government (Expenses of Local Authority 

Members) Regulations 2014 (S.I. No. 236 of 2014) establishes a maximum 

amount of expenditure that can be incurred by a local authority under 

section 142(5) of the Local Government Act 2001, as amended by section 

53(2) of the Local Government Reform Act 2014 (i.e. in respect of 

attendance by local authority members at conferences, seminars, or other 

meeting or event) whether within or outside of the State.  Such expenditure 

incorporates conference fees, as well as travel and subsistence costs.    

 

(2) The purpose of establishing such maxima is to restrict the overall amount of 

expenditure incurred by local authorities under section 142(5).   This is 

significantly reduced from the amount set in 2010 by the Local Government 

Act 2001 (Section 142) Regulations 2010 (S.I. No. 37 of 2010).  

Notwithstanding the reduction in the ceiling, there must remain a 

presumption against attendance at conferences organised to generate 

maximum attendance by councillors and hence conference fees, and a 

greater reference to the quality and relevance of conferences when deciding 

on attendance. 

 

(3) These Guidelines complement the Regulations by identifying best practice 

in regard to attendance at such events. 

 

(4) The Regulations and Guidelines together should be read in the context, 

inter alia, of the Code of Conduct for Councillors, which outlines that –  

 

(a) the public is entitled to expect conduct of the highest standards from all 

of those involved in the local government service, and the Local 

Government Act 2001 imposes a statutory duty on all in the local 

government service to maintain proper standards of integrity, conduct 

and concern for the public interest, 

 

(b) the core principles underlying democratic local government are based 

on councillors acting in good faith and with fairness and impartiality for 

the common good and to promote the public interest, and    

 

(c) Councillors must be seen to act solely in the public interest, and to 

maintain and enhance public trust and confidence. 

 

2 Amount provided by local authorities for attendance at conferences, 

seminars, training, or other meeting or event 

(1) The Regulations set the maximum amount that can be provided by a local 

authority for attendance at events by councillors at €700 per annum, with 

Page 41



26 
 

€350 being the maximum for the period from 1 June 2014 to 31 December 

2014. 

 

(2) The maximum amount for a local authority calculated in accordance with 

article 11 should in no way be interpreted as being a target amount, or an 

amount deemed to be appropriate for a local authority in any year.  Article 

11(2) leaves it open to each local authority to provide a lesser amount than 

the maximum specified in the Regulations.   

 

(3) The amount provided in its budget by a local authority to meet expenditure 

for the purposes of under section 142(5)(c) of the Act should be consistent 

with, and seen to be consistent with the major financial and other policy 

decisions being taken by the authority, and the general requirements to be 

prudent and to secure best value for money. 

 

3 Position of individual councillors 

(1) While the maximum amount provided by a local authority under section  

142(5)(c) of the 2001 Act is calculated by reference to the number of 

councillors on that authority, this should not be interpreted as conferring on 

any individual councillor an entitlement to any part of the overall budget.  

Accordingly, the limit on the payment under this heading shall be €1,000 

per councillor per annum (and €500 in respect of the period from 1 June 

2014 to 31 December 2014). 

 

(2) The decision of a local authority and a municipal district to authorise one or 

more members to represent the authority at a conference, seminar, meeting 

or event (i.e. under paragraph (b) of the said subsection (5)) is a separate 

decision.   It may well be that having regard to a variety of factors, for 

example, the experience, interests and committee involvement of different 

councillors, and the range of conferences and similar events occurring, the 

amount of expenditure incurred by different councillors will vary.   This is 

a matter for the local authority itself. 

 

4 Assessment of value of conferences 

(1) As up-coming conferences, seminars or other meetings or events come to 

the attention of a local authority, the authority should carry out an 

assessment of their relevance and suitability for its councillors.   It is 

suggested that the Corporate Policy Group would have a useful role to play 

in this regard. 

 

(2) The decision of a local authority to authorise one or more members to 

represent the authority at a particular conference, seminar etc under section 

142(5)(b) should take account of –  

 

a) the resources available to fund attendance at the event, having regard to 

needs likely to arise later in the year concerned, 

b) the cost of attendance at the event (including attendance fees and 

travelling and subsistence expenses payable for attendance),  

c) how the event compares in terms of efficacy and value for money with 

other similar meetings or events. 

Page 42



27 
 

 

(3) In authorising members to attend events, account should be taken of the 

following factors –  

 

a) size of delegation - the number of members attending any event should 

be the minimum necessary to represent the authority at the event 

consistent with producing the required benefit for the members 

concerned, the authority and the community, 

b) members attending - the selection of a particular member to attend any 

event should, where possible, (and in addition to any identified needs) 

take account of his/ her particular areas of proven interest in relation to 

the council, their membership of an SPC or other local authority/ 

Committee, or their participation in community activities of a 

particular nature or sector, and 

c) any follow-up action that the local authority or its elected members 

need or propose to take following the event or in the future. 

 

5 Requirements on members in relation to attendance at conferences 

(1) Having been authorised to attend an event under section 142, a councillor is 

required in all circumstances to – 

 

a) attend that event and participate in the proceedings to the greatest 

extent possible, and 

b) submit a written report within 15 days to the Cathaoirleach, who shall 

submit the report to the next ordinary meeting of the council.  The 

report must indicate the nature of the meeting and contain a summary 

of the proceedings.  This report shall be made available free of charge 

on request to any member of the public; for this purpose it may be put 

on the local authority’s website. The requirements in relation to reports 

by attendees and making the report available to the public are in large 

part new requirements under section 142(5)(f) (as amended) and 

section 142(5)(fa).   

 

(2) The Minister considers that default arrangements should be for the report 

from the member and the proceedings to remain available on the local 

authority’s website, with omission only of documentation where clear 

copyright restrictions so require. 

 

B. Allowances for expenses for attendance at training events 

 

1 Introduction 

(1) Under section 142(5A) of the 2001 Act, as inserted by section 53(1)(d) of the 

2014 Act, the provision of allowances for expenses for training is separated 

from the allowances for expenses for conferences, on the basis that attendance 

at training events will be of greater advantage to individual councillors and 

thus to the overall membership of the council and ultimately of greater benefit 

to the people the councillors represent. 

 

Page 43



28 
 

(2) From 2010, local authorities have been required to adopt a Training and 

Development Programme for Councillors, the objective of which now will 

be -   

 

a) to adopt a more structured approach to supporting the development 

needs of councillors so that they can discharge their duties as 

effectively as possible, and 

b) to inform decisions by the elected council on the training events for 

which councillors should be supported. 

 

(3) The Programme should have regard, inter alia, to –  

 

a) the key policy issues and challenges facing the councillors and the 

local authority generally,    

b) the stage of the local government term; the training and development 

needs may be different at the beginning and end of a local government 

term, 

c) the profile and experience of the councillors, including the events 

already attended by councillors generally, and 

d) The likely resources that will be available to meet training needs under 

section 142(5A) of the 2001 Act for the development of councillors. 

 

2 Courses for which expensed for attendance may be paid 

(1)  Within the context of the overall programme, consideration should 

only be given to:-   

 

a) Attendance at the annual conference of, and specific training events 

provided by, the Association of Irish Local Government (AILG); 

b) the need at the beginning of a new local government term for induction 

courses organised by the local authority itself within the local authority 

area and by the AILG; 

c) attendance at appropriate events organised by national representative 

bodies for functions for which local authorities have responsibilities.  

The bodies must have a remit in relation to the relevant functional area, 

and represent relevant bodies or individuals active in relation to that 

function across a range of matters other than provision of training.  

Examples would include the IPI and RIAI in relation to planning 

functions; 

d) programmes of education and training which relate to functions for 

which local authorities have responsibilities and which are validated by 

Quality and Qualifications Ireland, the body established by the 

Qualifications and Quality Assurance (Education and Training) Act, 

2012, (formerly FETAC and HETAC courses).  This is to ensure that 

the training is externally accredited or validated, and includes courses 

and training programmes provided by a wide range of educational 

bodies; 

e) the possible inclusion of structured training or educational courses that 

would lead to or contribute to qualifications of relevance to the 

functions of the local authority and of councillors.   This could include, 

for example, distance or on-line courses leading to the award of 

Page 44



29 
 

qualifications which are recognised within the National Framework of 

Qualifications; and 

f) such other training which may be approved by the Minister from time 

to time.  The Minister, in the development of a training regime for 

elected members (see below) will assess the programmes or bodies that 

contribute to the training and/or continuous professional development 

of elected members.  Training provided by the Institute of Public 

Administration in relation to local government is hereby approved by 

the Minister for the purposes of this provision. 

 

(2) Consideration may also be given to the annual seminars and conferences of 

Local Authority Members Association (LAMA).  Normally, 2 are arranged 

per annum, and attendance will be limited to 2 events per annum organised 

by LAMA. 

 

(3) For educational programmes identified at subparagraphs (2)(d) and (e) 

above at Level 6 and above in the National Qualification Framework, the 

local authority should pay a proportion only of the course fees where these 

are in excess of €500 per annum, and should in no case pay a contribution 

in excess of €1,500 per annum.  Payment should be made annually in 

arrears following satisfactory evidence that all examinations have been 

passed and the elected member is eligible to progress to the next stage of 

the course, were the course is not completed.  The payment of a 

contribution only of such course fees reflects the expectation that 

qualifications at Level 6 and above will be of benefit to the elected member 

outside his or her role as an elected member. 

 

(4) While the manner in which the Programme is prepared is a matter for local 

authorities, it is suggested that it could be prepared in the first instance with 

the assistance of relevant personnel in the local authority.  

 

4 Further training that may be provided for 

The Department periodically meets with the AILG to discuss the training needs of 

elected members. There may be further guidance issued to supplement, or as 

appropriate amend, this circular letter with regard to individual training events or 

longer-term training needs   

 

5 Training and development by local authorities 
(1) Local authorities themselves are requested to consider on an on-going basis 

their own potential to meet a greater proportion of the training and 

development needs of members.   Authorities, particularly the larger ones have 

–  

 

a) structures in place for the training and development of staff that could be 

extended to also meet the needs of councillors, and 

b) much in-house expertise across the range of local authority policy areas. 

 

(2) Local authorities should also consider the possibilities for cooperation and 

coordination between themselves in this regard. 

Page 45



30 
 

Part VI 

 

General Rules in respect of the Allowances 

 

1. Notification of official address 

A member of a local authority or of a committee, joint committee or joint policing 

committee shall, as soon as possible after becoming such member, notify the local 

authority of the address of his or her official residence and provide any other relevant 

information required by the local authority for the purposes of the Regulations or of 

these rules and shall notify the local authority as soon as possible of any subsequent 

changes in such address or information. 

 

2. Authorisation by local authority for representation at event 

The following provisions shall apply in relation to an authorisation for the purposes of 

sections 142(5) and 142(5A) of the Act: - 

 

(1) The resolution in relation to an authorisation shall specify by name the 

member or members of the local authority which it is proposed to authorise 

and these shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting at which the 

authorisation was given.  This authorisation is a reserved function of the 

local authority, and it is a matter for the elected members of the local 

authority to determine whether this function may be delegated to municipal 

district members under the provisions of section 131A(2) of the 2001 Act 

(as inserted by section 31(3) of the 2014 Act). 

 

(2) Before a decision is taken to give an authorisation, the Chief Executive 

shall inform the members of the estimated total cost which is likely to result 

from the proposed attendance at or participation in the matter to which the 

proposed authorisation relates and the members shall have regard to this 

and to the provision made for such purposes in the annual estimate of 

expenses, for the purposes of section 142(5) or section 142(5A) of the of 

the Act, as appropriate,   

 

(3) In deciding the number of persons to be authorised to attend conferences, 

seminars or other meeting or event other than a training event (i.e. under 

section 142(5)), the members shall have regard to the need to minimise the 

costs which are likely to result from attending or participating in the matter 

to which the proposed authorisation relates and to ensure that the number 

authorised does not exceed a reasonable proportion of the total number of 

members of the authority. 

 

(4) In deciding the number of persons to be authorised to avail of training or 

attend training events (i.e. under section 142(5A)), the members shall have 

regard to the benefits of increasing the skills and knowledge base of the 

elected members, their continued development in their role, the need to 

achieve efficiencies in delivery of such training and the need to minimise 

the costs which are likely to result from attending or participating in the 

matter to which the proposed authorisation relates. 

 

Page 46



31 
 

3. Matters to be recorded in Annual Report 

(1) The particulars to be recorded separately in the annual report of a local 

authority under section 221 of the Act shall include the following: 

 

(a) the total amount of payments made by the local authority under Part II 

and Part III, and to non-members of the council under regulations 8, 9 

and 10 of the Regulations; 

 

(b) the total amount of payments made by the local authority in respect of 

each of the matters specified in paragraph (b) of section 142(1) of the 

Act; 

 

(c) the amounts of payments made by the local authority in respect of the 

matters specified in the said paragraph (b) which related to travel or 

subsistence expenses within or outside the State respectively; 

 

(d) the total amount of all payments made by the local authority in 

accordance with regulations made under the said section 142. 

 

(2) The following particulars shall be recorded in the annual report of a local 

authority - 

 

(a) the number of meetings of the local authority and of municipal district 

members which were held during the year, 

 

(b) the title, purpose and number of members of each committee and joint 

committee and the number of meetings of each committee, joint 

committee and joint policing committee held during the year, 

 

(c) the public authorities and other bodies on which the local authority or 

any committee or joint committee was represented and the  names of 

such representatives, 

 

(d) the conferences, seminars and other similar events under section 142(5) 

at which the local authority or any committee or joint committee was 

represented during the year, specifying the purpose of each such event, 

whether such event was held within or outside the State and the 

number of representatives of the local authority or of any committee or 

joint committee who attended in each case. 

 

(e) the training availed of by members, and the training events attended by 

members under section 142(5A), specifying the title of each training 

event, the body which provided it and the number of representatives of 

the local authority or of any committee or joint committee who 

attended in each case 

 

(3) For the purposes of subparagraph (1)(b), payments in respect of attendance 

at conferences, seminars, etc. held by the AILG and LAMA shall be 

included in the total. 

 

Page 47



32 
 

4. Avoidance of unnecessary or excessive cost 

 A local authority and municipal district members shall ensure, as far as possible, 

that meetings of the authority, the municipal district members and any 

committees and joint committees and any events to which Part IV and Part V of 

the Regulations applies for which it is responsible, are so arranged and that the 

business at such meetings or other events is so managed as to avoid any 

unnecessary or excessive cost in respect of travelling or subsistence expenses 

allowances. 

 

5. Record of payments 

 A local authority shall keep a record of all payments made under sections 142 and 

143 of the Act, specifying the amount and nature of each payment and the name 

of the person to whom it was made and any other relevant particulars.  

 

6. Repayment of payments not due 

(1) Where in any case a payment was made to a member of a local authority or 

to a member of a committee or a joint committee of such authority in 

respect of  travelling or subsistence expenses and such member was not 

entitled to such payment or was entitled to a lesser amount than that 

actually paid, then such member shall be liable to repay to the local 

authority an amount equal to such payment or, as the case may be, a sum 

representing the difference between the amount actually paid and the 

amount to which the member was properly entitled. 

 

(2) Where a member fails to comply with the requirement of subparagraph (1) 

within a reasonable period, the local authority shall take any necessary 

action to recover the amount which is repayable by such member and 

without prejudice to any other method of recovery, any sum repayable in 

accordance with subparagraph (1) may be recovered by deduction from, or 

suspension of, any other payments to which the member would otherwise 

be entitled in accordance with the Regulations and these rules. 

 

7. Member’s official residence 

(1) Where a member’s official residence changes to a place which is outside of 

the functional area of the local authority, the number of kilometres outside 

such functional area which may be reckoned for the purposes of the 

Regulations and these rules shall not exceed – 

 

(a) where the member’s official residence immediately prior to such 

change was outside such functional area, the number kilometres 

outside the functional area which was reckonable prior to the change, 

 

(b) in any other case, 16 kilometres. 

 

 

 

Page 48



33 
 

Appendix II 

 

Allowances for expenses incurred by elected members 

 

Guidance notes regarding the 

 

Local Government (Expenses of Local Authority Members) Regulations 2014 

(S.I. No. 236 of 2014) 

and 

Directions by the Minister for the Housing, Planning and Local Government 

under Article 17 of those Regulations 

 

(1)  Annual Expenses Allowances  

(1) Part II of the Regulations provides for the annual expenses allowance 

system, the general terms of which have already been announced by the 

Minister and notified to local authorities.   It will be noted that payment of 

the annual expenses allowance will continue to be proportionate to  -  

a) the period of the year for which a person was a member, and 

 

b) to the member’s attendance rate with respect to a “quota” of 80% of all 

meetings which the member was due to attend.   

 

(2) Groupings of local authorities for the purpose of the annual allowance 

system are set out in the Schedule to the Regulations. 

 

(3) The rates and other rules to be applied for the calculation of annual 

expenses allowances are set out in Part I of the directions given by the 

Minister under article 17 of the Regulations. 

 

(2) Travelling and Subsistence Expenses Allowances (other than Annual Expenses 

Allowances) 

(1) Part IV and Part V of the Regulations provides for the payment of 

individual travelling or subsistence allowances (apart from the annual 

expenses allowance) on an ad hoc basis in certain cases, viz. attendance at 

conferences, seminars and similar events, training events, certain types of 

meetings held outside of the functional area of the local authority, visits in 

connection with twinning or similar arrangements and any other matters 

which might be specified in directions given by the Minister.   

 

(2) The matters in respect of which travelling or subsistence expenses 

allowances will be payable on an ad hoc basis are provided for at article 7 

of the Regulations.   Matters which are specifically excluded for the 

purposes of such allowances are set out in article 7(2) of the Regulations.    

 

(3) Particular attention is drawn to the fact that travelling and subsistence 

expenses on an ad hoc basis are not payable to elected members in respect 

of meetings of a local authority, meetings of municipal district members, or 

committees and joint committees, including such committees the joint 

policing committee (either by a local authority or the committee/ joint 

Page 49



34 
 

committee), and other types of meetings held within the functional area of 

the local authority. These are covered by the annual expenses allowance.    

 

(4) Local authorities are reminded that the payment of expenses in connection 

with meetings of any public authorities or committees, etc. of such 

authorities on which a local authority may be represented is a matter for the 

body concerned, e.g. ETBs, regional health fora, regional assemblies.  The 

elected member must, within 15 days of the end of each quarter, notify the 

local authority of his or her attendance at the relevant meetings and any 

payments made by the body (including in relation to travel by private 

vehicle, the distances travelled) – see section 141(1A) of the 2001 Act, as 

inserted by section 53(1) of the 2014 Act.   

 

(5) By virtue of sections 142(4)(g and (ga), all payments under sections 141, 

142 and 143 of the Act are required to be published by the local authority in 

the public register.  The local authority shall maintain a copy of this register 

publicly available on the website of the local authority. 

 

(3) Rules and Rates for Travelling and Subsistence Expenses Allowances 

(1) Rules in relation to travelling and subsistence expenses allowances payable 

under Part IV of the Regulations are set out in Part II of the directions; they 

incorporate the rules and the scale of travel and subsistence rates 

applicable.  At this time, the applicable travel and subsistence rates are set 

out in circulars EL 01/2017 and EL 03/2017 of 13 March 2017. The rates 

are also set out in Schedules A and B respectively to Part II.  It should be 

noted, in particular that in the case of attendance on the same day at –  

 

(a) a matter to which Part IV of the Regulations does not apply (e.g. covered 

by the annual expenses allowance or for which expenses are payable by 

another party), and  

 

(b) a matter to which Part V does apply (e.g. a conference, seminar, etc., and 

training events)  

 

(2) travelling and subsistence expenses allowances will only be payable in 

respect of any additional distance or period of absence arising from the 

latter over and above what the former would in any case have involved (see 

in particular paragraphs 7(3) and 12(1) of Part II of the directions.    

 

(3) It should also be noted that a travelling or subsistence allowance under Part 

IV or Part V of the Regulations should not be paid unless a claim is 

accompanied by a signed declaration as set out in Schedule C to Part II of 

the directions. 

 

(4) Local Authority Authorisations 

With regard to attendance at conferences, seminars or other meetings or events, 

attention is drawn to the requirement in section 142(5)(d) of the Act that such 

attendance should not be authorised unless the authority is satisfied that this is 

justified having regard to costs, benefits and the general interests of the 

authority’s area and the local community.  Similarly, in relation to training 

Page 50



35 
 

events, attention is drawn to the same requirements under section 142(5A)(d) of 

the Act. 

 

(5) Allowances to Chairpersons of SPCs 

The rules in relation to the payment of an annual allowance to Strategic Policy 

Committees are set out in Part IV of these directions.   The allowance is expenses 

related and therefore are not subject to income tax. 

 

(6) Rules for Expenses Allowances Generally 

General Rules in relation to members’ expenses are set out in Part V of the 

directions, incorporating the rules and requirements which apply generally to the 

making of claims for or payment of expenses allowances and other matters 

relating to expenses. 

 

(7) Payments in Accordance with Regulations and Directions 

Attention is drawn to article 16 of the Regulations which prohibits any payments 

in respect of expenses to members of local authorities or of committees, joint 

committees and joint policing committees except in accordance with the Act, the 

Regulations and these directions. 

 

(8) General Arrangements, Procedures, etc. 

Local authorities are also recommended to continue to keep under review the 

organisation of council and committee business with a view to maximising 

efficiency and economy and minimising the burden on members. 

 

(9) Taxation Implications for Allowances under Sections 142 and 143 of the Act 

(1) Section 143 of the Local Government Act, 2001 permits the payment by a 

local authority of an allowance for reasonable expenses to the Cathaoirleach 

and to the Leas-Chathaoirleach of the local authority, and to the 

Cathaoirleach of municipal district members, subject to the directions of the 

Minister. 

 

(2) As previously notified to local authorities, following an examination by the 

Revenue Commissioners of the operation of this system (including amounts 

and arrangements for payment) instructions issued to all local authorities 

regarding the tax treatment of such allowances.  These arrangements 

continue in force as required by Revenue. 
 

(3) In light of the foregoing, guidance is outlined below as regards certain 

related matters, as understood by this Department: 

 

(a) there is no change in the position regarding the fixed annual expenses 

allowance system for councillors – payable without deduction of tax, 

and 

 

(b) there is no change in the position regarding the allowance for the 

chairperson of a Strategic Policy Committee – payable without 

deduction of tax. 

 

Page 51



36 
 

(c) the role of the Leas-Chathaoirleach of the local authority is, under the 

Local Government Act, 2001, confined to acting in place of the 

Cathaoirleach in certain circumstances.  Accordingly if an allowance 

for reasonable expenses is considered appropriate, it should reflect this 

position and be limited to a modest sum approximate to likely 

expenses, and may not exceed one-fifth of the allowance payable to the 

Cathaoirleach. 

  

Page 52



37 
 

APPENDIX III 

 

Summary of the Amendments to the elected  

members Expenses System effective from 1 June 2014 

 

NOTE:  This Appendix is a summary only and should be read in conjunction 

with the Regulations and Directions issued together with this circular. 

 

 

Item Existing Position  Comment 

Meetings’ bands 

for Annual 

Expenses 

Allowances for 

County/ County 

and City/ City 

Councils 

 

Details in relation 

to the application 

of the revised 

indices to the 

relevant councils 

are set out in 

article 5 of the 

Regulations and 

Parts I, II, III and 

IV of the Schedule 

thereto. 

 

The councils of the 

counties of Carlow, 

Cavan, Kilkenny, 

Laois, Leitrim, 

Louth, Longford, 

Monaghan, Offaly, 

Roscommon, Sligo, 

and Westmeath and 

the council of the city 

of Galway. 

Index = 80 (travel 

rate) 

 

Index = 40 

(subsistence rate) 

 

The councils of the 

counties of Clare, 

Donegal, Galway, 

Kerry, Kildare, 

Mayo, Meath, 

Tipperary, Wexford 

and Wicklow, the 

councils of the cities 

and counties of 

Limerick and 

Waterford and the 

council of the city of 

Cork. 

Index = 110 (travel 

rate) 

 

Index = 55 

(subsistence rate) 

North and South 

Tipperary county 

councils and 

Waterford city and 

county councils 

were previously at 

Index 80 (travel 

rate)/ Index 40 

(subsistence rate) 

 

Limerick county 

council and 

Limerick city 

council were 

previously at this 

Index (i.e. Index 

110 (travel rate)/ 

Index = 55 

(subsistence rate)) 

The councils of the 

counties of Dun 

Laoghaire-

Rathdown, Fingal 

and South Dublin. 

Index = 150 (travel 

rate) 

 

Index = 75 

(subsistence rate) 

 

The council of the 

county of Cork and 

the council of the city 

of Dublin. 

Index = 170 (travel 

rate) 

 

Index = 85 

(subsistence rate) 

 

Expenses allowances to Cathaoirligh and No limits set by the See Table for 

Page 53



38 
 

Item Existing Position  Comment 

Leas-Chathaoirligh of local authorities are 

set out in Part VI of the Regulations and 

Part IV of the directions. 

Minister limits set by 

Minister for 

Cathaoirleach. 

 

Limit for Leas-

Chathaoirleach at 
1
/5

th
 the rate for 

Cathaoirleach. 

Expenses allowances to Cathaoirleach of 

municipal districts (which include 

metropolitan districts) are set out in Part 

VI of the Regulations and Part IV of the 

directions. 

None See Table for 

limits set by 

Minister for 

Cathaoirleach. 

 

New provision 

Expenses allowances to chairpersons of 

Strategic Policy Committees (SPCs) are 

set out in Part VI of the Regulations and 

Part IV of the directions. 

Allowance €6,000 

pa 

No change 

Annual Mobile Phone Allowances in 

respect of 50% of the total vouched costs 

of mobile phone usage in association with 

the public duties of a councillor. 

 

 

 

Inclusion in the 

local authority’s 

contract for mobile 

data and voice 

(“bundle”) or 

where lesser, €600 

p.a. towards 

vouched expenses. 

Inclusion in bundle 

is a new provision 

 

 

Page 54



39 
 

Appendix IV 

 

 

Local Government (Expenses of Local Authority Members) Regulations 2014  

(S.I. No. 236 of 2014) 

and 

Local Government (Expenses of Local Authority Members) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2017  

(S.I. No. 494 of 2017) 

 

 

The Regulations provide for the payment of expenses to members of local authorities 

in accordance with section 142 of the Local Government Act 2001, and for payment 

of allowances to Cathaoirligh and Leas-Chathaoirligh of local authorities, and 

Cathaoirligh of municipal districts in accordance with section 143 of the same Act. 

 

They revoked the Local Government (Expenses of Local Authority Members) 

Regulations 2006 (S.I. No. 668 of 2006) and the Local Government Act 2001 (Section 

142) Regulations 2010 (S.I. No. 37 of 2010). 

 

 

Page 55





STATUTORY INSTRUMENTS.

S.I. No. 494 of 2017

————————

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (EXPENSES OF LOCAL AUTHORITY
MEMBERS) (AMENDMENT) REGULATIONS 2017

Page 57



2 [494]

S.I. No. 494 of 2017

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (EXPENSES OF LOCAL AUTHORITY
MEMBERS) (AMENDMENT) REGULATIONS 2017

I, JOHN PAUL PHELAN, Minister of State at the Department of Housing,
Planning and Local Government, in exercise of the powers conferred on me by
sections 4 and 142 (as amended by section 53 of the Local Government Reform
Act 2014 (No.1 of 2014) of the Local Government Act 2001 (No. 37 of 2001),
section 4 of the Local Government Reform Act 2014 (No.1 of 2014) and the
Housing, Planning and Local Government (Delegation of Ministerial Functions)
Order 2017 (S.I. No. 473 of 2017) and with the consent of the Minister for
Finance and Public Expenditure and Reform (pursuant to the Ministers and
Secretaries Acts 1924 to 2017) hereby make the following regulations:

Citation and construction
1. (1) These Regulations may be cited as the Local Government (Expenses

of Local Authority Members) (Amendment) Regulations 2017.

(2) The Principal Regulations and these Regulations may be cited together
as the Local Government (Expenses of Local Authority Members) Regulations
2014 and 2017 and shall be construed together as one.

Definitions
2. In these Regulations “Principal Regulations” means the Local Government

(Expenses of Local Authority Members) Regulations 2014 (S.I. No. 236 of
2014).

Amendments
3. The Principal Regulations are amended—

(a) by inserting the following after article 5:

“5A. With effect from 1 July 2017 a member may choose to claim
vouched expenses instead of the fixed annual rate referred to under
article 5(1) in respect of expenses which the member is obliged to incur
in the performance of his or her duties as a member, where evidence
in the form of vouchers or receipts is available to show that the
expenses were incurred.

Notice of the making of this Statutory Instrument was published in
“Iris Oifigiúil” of 17th November, 2017.

Page 58



[494] 3

5B. The payment of vouched expenses by a local authority to a
member shall be made in accordance with and shall not exceed an
amount determined in accordance with directions pursuant to article
17.

5C. Any member who is paid an amount under article 5A shall, in
accordance with directions pursuant to article 17, retain evidence in the
form of vouchers or receipts to show that the expenses were incurred.

5D. Vouched expenses shall not be claimed by a member or payable
by a local authority in respect of expenses against which reimburse-
ment is otherwise provided by a local authority under these
Regulations.

5E. Vouched expenses shall not be claimed by a member or payable
by a local authority in respect of expenses against which reimburse-
ment is otherwise provided by an external body.”,

(b) by inserting the following after article 14(2):

“PART VIA

ALLOWANCE FOR MEMBERS OF MUNICPAL DISTRICTS
AND AREA COMMITTEES

Municipal Districts
14A. With effect from 1 July 2017 a local authority may, subject to

and in accordance with directions given by the Minister under article
17, pay an annual amount to municipal district members.

Area Committees
14B. With effect from 1 July 2017 a local authority to which section

50 of the Act applies may, subject to and in accordance with directions
given by the Minister under article 17, pay an annual amount to
members who hold membership of an area committee established
under that section.”

and

(c) by inserting the following after article 17(2)(p):

“(q) the rules, requirements, conditions, restrictions, limits, pro-
cedures or any other provisions which apply in respect of
the claiming or payment of vouched expenses under articles
5A to 5E, and

Page 59



4 [494]

(r) the amount of the allowance paid to members under article
14A and 14B.”

GIVEN under my hand,
10 November 2017.

JOHN PAUL PHELAN,
Minister of State at the Department of Housing, Planning and

Local Government.

The Minister for Finance and Public Expenditure and Reform hereby consents
to the Local Government (Expenses of Members of Local Authorities)
(Amendment) Regulations 2017.

GIVEN under the Official Seal of the Minister for Finance and Public
Expenditure and Reform,
10 November 2017.

PASCHAL DONOHOE,
Minister for Finance and Public Expenditure and Reform.

Page 60



[494] 5

EXPLANATORY NOTE

(This note is not part of the Instrument and does not purport to be a legal
interpretation.)

These Regulations amend the Local Government (Expenses of Local Auth-
ority Members) Regulations 2014 (S.I. No. 236 of 2014) which provide for the
payment of expenses and allowances to members of local authorities.

These Regulations introduce an option whereby local authority members may
choose, with effect from 1 July 2017, to claim for payment against vouched
annual expenses as part of the annual expenses allowance in place of the
unvouched fixed annual rate. The payment of vouched expenses shall be made
by local authorities in accordance with directions issued by the Minister under
article 17.

These Regulations provide for the payment of an annual allowance to
members of municipal districts and area committees, with effect from 1 July
2017, in accordance with directions issued by the Minister under article 17.

Page 61



BAILE ÁTHA CLIATH
ARNA FHOILSIÚ AG OIFIG AN tSOLÁTHAIR

Le ceannach díreach ó
FOILSEACHÁIN RIALTAIS,

52 FAICHE STIABHNA, BAILE ÁTHA CLIATH 2
(Teil: 01 - 6476834 nó 1890 213434; Fax: 01 - 6476843)

nó trí aon díoltóir leabhar.

——————

DUBLIN
PUBLISHED BY THE STATIONERY OFFICE

To be purchased from
GOVERNMENT PUBLICATIONS,

52 ST. STEPHEN'S GREEN, DUBLIN 2.
(Tel: 01 - 6476834 or 1890 213434; Fax: 01 - 6476843)

or through any bookseller.

——————

€2.54

Wt. (B33139). 285. 11/17. Essentra. Gr 30-15.

Page 62



Explanation of Breakdown of Meetings’ Expenses 2017 & 2018 
 

Calculation of Members' Meeting Expenses  

Year Type Mileage Subs Fixed  Vouched 
Annual 

Expenses 
Monthly 
expenses 

Monthly 
Increase 

2014 - 2017 Un-vouched 
  
1,665.25  

   
2,856.85  

   
2,666.45                  -    

     
7,188.55        599.04  

                    
-    

2018 Un-vouched 
  
2,284.80  

   
2,856.85  

   
2,667.00                  -    

     
7,808.65        650.72  

             
51.68  

2017 Vouched 
  
1,665.25  

   
2,856.85  

   
1,333.50  

   
2,500.00  

     
8,355.60        696.30  

             
97.26  

2018 Vouched 
  
2,284.80  

   
2,856.85  

                
-    

   
5,000.00  

  
10,141.65        845.14  

          
246.10  

  

 
****************************************************************************************************************** 
1. CURRENT - Up to 30th June 2017 

Circular from the Department of the Environment, Heritage and Local Government, LG 
12/14, Appendix 1, Part 1. 
 
I set out below details of the allowances. 

(1) The Annual Expenses Allowance comprises of three elements: 
(a) Annual Travel Rate of 60.88c per kilometre 
Formula is (Minimum of 10 miles = 16.093 km) 16.09 x 60.88 x 2 x 85 (Index 

applicable to Dublin City Council) (Multiplied by 2 to cover return journey) = 
€1665.25  

(b) Annual Subsistence Rate €33.61 
Formula Rate by Index €33.61 x 85 = € 2856.85  
(c) Fixed Annual Rate of  €2,666.45  
 
Total of (a) (b) (c)   = €7188.55 pa  =  €599.04 pm  

 
The mileage Rate of 60.88c per kilometre. The subsistence rate is 33.61 and the Index used 
in the formula i.e. 85. An 80% attendance record at meetings is required to achieve 
maximum payment of the travel and subsistence elements (a) and (b) above and 50% 
attendance record is required to achieve maximum payment of the fixed element (c) above. 
************************************************************************************************* 
 

2. From 1st July to 31st Dec 2017 – Option 1 – Not Moving to Vouched Expenses 
Circular from the Department of the Environment, Heritage and Local Government, LG 
07/17, Appendix 1, Part 1. 
 

I set out below details of the allowances. 
(1) The Annual Expenses Allowance comprises of three elements: 

(a) Annual Travel Rate of 60.88c per kilometre. Formula is (Minimum of 10 miles 
= 16.093 km) 16.09 x 60.88c x 2 x 85 (Index applicable to Dublin City 
Council) (Multiplied by 2 to cover return journey) = €1,665.25 

(b) Annual Subsistence Rate €33.61 
Formula Rate by Index €33.61 x 85 = € 2856.85  

(c) Fixed Annual Rate of  €2,666.45  
 

Total of (a) (b) (c)   = €7,189 = €3,594.50 for July to Dec 2017  
 
Option 1 – Not Moving to Vouched Expenses  No change for July to Dec 2017 
 ************************************************************************************************* 

3. From 1st JANUARY 2018 – Option 1 – Not Moving to Vouched Expenses 

Page 63



Circular from the Department of the Environment, Heritage and Local Government, LG 
07/17, Appendix 1, Part 1. 
 
I set out below details of the allowances. 

(1) The Annual Expenses Allowance comprises of three elements: 
(a) Annual Travel Rate of 83.53c per kilometre 

Formula is (Minimum of 10 miles = 16.093 km) 16.09 x 83.53c x 2 x 85 
(Index applicable to Dublin City Council) (Multiplied by 2 to cover return 
journey) = €2,284.80  

(b) Annual Subsistence Rate €33.61 
Formula Rate by Index €33.61 x 85 = € 2856.85  

(c) Fixed Annual Rate of  €2,666.45  
 
Total of (a) (b) (c)   = €7808.10 pa = €650.68 pm 
 (Increase of €620pa = €51.67pm)  

 
************************************************************************************************* 

4. From 1st JULY to 31st DEC 2017 – Option 2 – Moving to Vouched Expenses 
Circular from the Department of the Environment, Heritage and Local Government, LG 
07/17, Appendix 1, Part 1. 
 

The Annual Expenses Allowance comprises of two elements: 
(a) Annual Travel Rate of 60.88c per kilometre. Formula is (Minimum of 10 miles 

= 16.093 km) 16.09 x60.88c x 2 x 85 (Index applicable to Dublin City Council) 
(Multiplied by 2 to cover return journey) = €1,665.25 

(b)  Annual Subsistence Rate €33.61 
Formula- Rate by Index : €33.61 x 85 = € 2,856.85  
 

Total of (a) & (b) for full year  = €4,522.10 pa full year = €2,261.05 for 6 months 
 

Vouched expenses for the half year = €2,500 max,  
 

TOTAL MAX 1st July to 31st December 2017 = €4,761.05, increase of €1,166.55 
 
************************************************************************************************* 

5. From 1st JANUARY 2018 – Option 2 – Moving to Vouched Expenses 
Circular from the Department of the Environment, Heritage and Local Government, LG 
07/17, Appendix 1, Part 1. 
 
The Annual Expenses Allowance comprises of three elements: 

(a) Annual Travel Rate of 83.53c per kilometre.Formula is (Minimum of 10 miles 
= 16.093 km) 16.09 x 83.53c  x 2 x 85 (Index applicable to Dublin City 
Council) (Multiplied by 2 to cover return journey)  
= €2,284.80 

(b) Annual Subsistence Rate €33.61. Formula- Rate by Index : €33.61 x 85  
= € 2,856.85  
 

Total of (a) & (b) for full year  = €5,141.65 pa full year, €428.47 pm 
 

Vouched expenses for the year = €5,000 pa €416.67 pm 
 
TOTAL FOR FULL YEAR  = €10,141.65 pa = €845.14 per month 
 
************************************************************************************************* 

Page 64



 
To the Lord Mayor and                                              
Members of Dublin City Council                               Report of the Chief Executive 
 

 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Procedures for Deletions from the Roll of Honour of Dublin City 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Introduction 
Section 74 of the Local Government Act 2001 (as amended by the Reform of Local Government 
Act 2014) sets out the procedures for the conferral of the freedom of an administrative area on a 
person or persons who, in the opinion of the Members are deserving of that honour. Dublin City 
Council has regularly awarded the Freedom of Dublin City over the years. However, only once in 
the past has such an honour been revoked and the resolution bestowing it been rescinded. This 
was in 1915 which was obviously before the introduction of the current legislation. The current 
legislation makes no reference to the deletion of a name from the roll of honour or the reversal of 
a resolution to bestow the freedom of an administrative area.  
 
Having discussed this issue with the Law Agent, I am of the opinion that the ordinary statutory 
powers granted to the Members of the City Council to make, revoke or amend resolutions with 
regard to all of their reserved functions enables them to delete names from the Roll of Honorary 
Freedom of Dublin City if they so wish. 
 
Resolution 
Accordingly I set out hereunder two sample resolutions which Members may use depending on 
the particular circumstances  : 
  
Scenario 1 – Members wish to revoke a resolution conferring the Freedom of the City and 
remove a name from the Roll of Honorary Freedom 
 
“That Dublin City Council hereby resolves to rescind it’s decision of the dd/mm/yy bestowing the 
Freedom of the City on xxxx and instructs the Chief Executive to remove the name of xxxx from 
the Roll of Honorary Freedom” 

 
Scenario 2 – Members wish to consider a request by a recipient of the Freedom of the City to 
have his/her name removed from the Roll of Honorary Freedom 
 
“That Dublin City Council, having considered a request from xxxx, on whom the Freedom of the 
City was bestowed by resolution on the dd/mm/yy,  hereby resolves to rescind it’s decision of that 
date and instructs the Chief Executive to remove the name of xxxx from the Roll of Honorary 
Freedom in accordance with his/her wish” 
 
 
Owen P. Keegan 
Chief Executive             Dated: 23th November 2017 

Page 65





 
To the Lord Mayor and                                             
Members of Dublin City Council Protocol Committee                          Report of the Chief Executive 
 

 
 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Draft Protocol for the Flying of Flags from Civic Buildings 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 

1. Aim of Policy 
This Protocol aims to clarify procedures for the flying of Flags from Dublin City Council’s 
Civic Buildings including City Hall, the Mansion House and Civic Offices and by default to 
other City Council building. It does not apply to banners on the Quays or elsewhere. 

 
2. Standard Arrangements. 

 
a) Where three flagpoles are in place the order of flight from left to right is the Dublin Flag, 

The National Flag and the flag of the European Union.  Flags flown together should 
always be of equal size.   

b) The National Flag will be flown In accordance with guidelines from Department of An 
Taoiseach.   

c) The Flags, including the National Flag may remain flying at night if they are  lit. If 
lighting is not in place or not operational the flags should only be flown from sunrise to 
sunset. 

d) Flags should be maintained in good condition and disposed of respectfully when worn 
or damaged. 

e) The Chief Executive’s Department is authorised to order the raising of flags at 
properties and facilities operated by the City Council. 

 

3. Mourning and Half-Mast Arrangements  
 
a) All buildings will fly the National Flag at half- mast when directed by National 

Government.   In these circumstances any accompanying flags will be removed for the 
duration of the mourning period 

b) The Mansion House will fly the Dublin Flag at half-mast on the death of a Current Lord 
Mayor, former Lord Mayor or recipient of Freedom of the City of Dublin.  The 
accompanying flags will be removed for the duration of the mourning period 

c) City Hall will fly the Dublin Flag at half mast for the death of a serving Councillor or 
recipient of Freedom of the City of Dublin.  The accompanying Flags will be removed for 
the duration of the mourning period 

d) The Civic Offices will fly the Dublin Flag at half mast for death of a serving Lord Mayor, 
Councillor, recipient of freedom of the city and for an employee when the death is work 
related.   

e) There may be other occasions when Chief Executive’s Department in consultation with 
the Lord Mayor decide that it is appropriate to fly Flags at half-mast on one or all of the 
Civic Buildings. 

f) In all cases if the period between death and funeral services is more than three days 
the Flags will fly at half mast on the day of death and subsequently the day of the 
funeral 

 
 

Page 67



 
 
 

4. Flying of Flags of Sovereign States recognised by the Irish Government 
Dublin City Council may fly other National Flags on one of it Civic Building when that Civic 
Building is hosting a Head of State or Government Delegation.  On occasions the 
Department of Foreign Affairs may request that the National Flag of another state be flown. 
The Decision to fly the flags in these occasions will be taken by the Lord Mayor for the 
Mansion House and the Chief Executive’s Department for all other buildings  
 

5. Flying of Flags of Sister Cities /Twin Cities 
 The City Council may fly the flags of those cities with whom Dublin City has a recognised 
 Sister City or co-operation agreement when hosting an official delegation from that city. 
        

6. Guest Flags 
a) The City Council may at it’s discretion fly a Guest Flag for a limited period on City Hall 
b) Dublin City will not fly any Flags that support political, union or religious movements or 

support discrimination or prejudice.  
c) When considering whether to fly the flag of a Nation or State not recognised by the Irish 

Government the Council will give due consideration to the advice of the Department of 
Foreign Affairs 

d) No Guest Flag will fly for more than three days in any month or more than once in any 
year 

e) Motions or applications to fly any flag should be lodged with the administrator of the 
Protocol Committee at least two months before the desired date.   

f) No commitment on dates can be given to any party in advance of the Council  Decision 
g) Application or motions considered inappropriate by the Protocol Committee will not be 

referred to the City Council Meeting 
h) No flag raising ceremonies will be permitted in City Hall 
i) No delegations can present to the Protocol Committee or City Council on this topic 
j) Guest Flags will replace the Dublin Flag. 

 
 
 
 

 

Page 68



George Jones
CHAIRMAN

MEF 2017
Putting Members First

P
age 69



2

AGENDA

• CHAIRMAN WELCOME & 
INTRODUCTION

• FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE YTD 

• MARKET DEVELOPMENTS

• TARGETED USE OF RETAINED 
EARNINGS

• INCREASED FOCUS ON ADDRESSING 
CLAIMS 

• 2018 PRICING & NEW PRODUCTS

• CSE SOCIAL ENTERPRISE 
DEVELOPMENT FUND 

• QUESTIONS & ANSWERS

ORDER OF BUSINESS

P
age 70



3

MEF PURPOSE
ENGAGING OUR MEMBERS

• THE FORUM IS AN ENHANCED WAY TO ENGAGE MEMBERS 

• AS A MUTUAL, WE EXIST FOR OUR MEMBERS’ BENEFIT –
ENGAGEMENT IS KEY 

• OUR AIM IS TO PROVIDE SIMPLE, EFFECTIVE AND MEANINGFUL 
ENGAGEMENT 

• BROAD DISCUSSION ON MATTERS RELATING TO YOUR INSURANCE 
ORGANISATION 

• THIRD ENGAGEMENT SINCE MARCH 2016 

• ANNUAL EVENT GUARANTEES NOMINEE ENGAGEMENT HALF-
YEARLY

P
age 71



4

INTRODUCTION & RECAP

• CONCENTRATE FOCUS ON PROTECTING MEMBERS

• INCREASE FOCUS ON ADDRESSING CLAIMS 

• TARGETED USE OF RETAINED EARNINGS

• MAINTAIN CORPORATE SOCIAL ENGAGEMENT ELEMENT 

OUTPUTS FROM RECENT MEETINGS

P
age 72



5

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
YTD Performance* (9 months)

€135.2m
GWP

(Gross Written 
Premium)

-€1m
Net 

Underwriting 
Result

+€33m
Investment 

Result

+€28.0m
Surplus

after tax

101.2% 
Net Combined 

Ratio

€141.5m +€3.6m

+€11.7m +€13.4m

96.9%

(Budgeted full year target figures noted in orange text)

*Unaudited Financial Results

P
age 73



6

INCREASING CLAIMS COSTS 

Combined PL & EL

▪ The number of Liability claims has 

increased by 51% from 2012 (2,688) 

to 2016 (4,060)

▪ The cost of claims has increased 

by 68% from 2012 (€49.4m) to 2016 

(€82.9m) 

P
age 74



7

Cost of Insurance Working Group – Phase 2 (Liability Insurance)

Book of 
Quantum

Court 
Awards

Legal 
Costs

Injuries 
Board

Discount 
Rate

3% to 1%-
1.5%

Recoverable 
Benefits 
Scheme

MARKET DEVELOPMENTS

All major liability 
insurers were invited 
to attend.

Key points highlighted 
by IPB that are driving 
up the cost of claims. 

P
age 75



8

COST OF INSURANCE WORKING GROUP

Fraud Costs

€200m
Per annum

7.2m
PPS No.’s

For a 
population

of 4.6m

MIBI

1 in 8
Suspicious

MARKET DEVELOPMENTS

Shift from Motor:   Fraudulent claimants move to areas of least resistance. 

Criminal activity:    Focus on PI claims as a basis for legitimate income to justify 
lifestyle with children now a feature in claims by criminals.

Perjury: Absence of an offence of perjury in Irish Law

INSURANCE 
FRAUD

P
age 76



9

So, what are we doing to tackle the cost of claims?

▪ Increasing awareness of causes through better claims management 

information

▪ Identification of Claims Hotspots 

▪ Remediation through streets and footpaths surveys

▪ Proactive risk management 

▪ Proactive engagement in selection of materials for footpaths and 

pedestrian areas

▪ Claims Process Enhancements 

▪ Focus on fraud and exaggeration 

▪ Reduction in claims and costs of claims

P
age 77



10

MAPPING CLAIMS HOTSPOTS

Specific pathway reporting multiple accidents
- Limited footfall area (non commercial area (housing)
- High frequency of slips and trips
- Prompts further investigation

Accident Hotspots
• Identification of high frequency accident areas
• Geo-coded hotspots assist in identifying areas 

requiring remediation or possible fraudulent 
activity

Risk Remediation of Targeted Claims Hotspots 
• All Local Authorities Claims Mapped 
• Hotspots Identified and Shared with Members
• Remediation works have commenced in several 

local authorities 

P
age 78



11

So, what are we doing to tackle the cost of claims?

▪ Increasing awareness of causes through better claims management 

information

▪ Identification of Claims Hotspots 

▪ Remediation through streets and footpaths surveys

▪ Proactive risk management 

▪ Proactive engagement in selection of materials for footpaths and 

pedestrian areas

▪ Claims Process Enhancements 

▪ Focus on fraud and exaggeration 

▪ Reduction in claims and costs of claims

P
age 79



12

Asset Management – New Innovative Materials

Innovative Materials

Interlocking paving effect

• Cost effective
• Hard Wearing
• Shift Protection
• Visually appealing

PROACTIVE ENGAGEMENT IN SELECTION OF MATERIALS FOR 
FOOTPATHS AND PEDESTRIAN AREAS

Tobermore city pave

P
age 80



13

Asset Management – New Innovative Solutions

BEFORE

AFTER
Innovative Materials

Tarmac with paving effect
• Load Bearing
• Hard Wearing
• Cost Effective
• Visually more appealing

PROACTIVE ENGAGEMENT IN SELECTION OF MATERIALS FOR 
FOOTPATHS AND PEDESTRIAN AREAS

P
age 81



14

Asset Management – Appropriate Materials

Manufactured
Material 

Natural Stone
Material

• Greatly improved grip 

• Cost effective

• Manufactured Material

• Sourced locally

Kilsaran StoneFrench Limestone

PROACTIVE ENGAGEMENT IN SELECTION OF MATERIALS FOR 
FOOTPATHS AND PEDESTRIAN AREAS

P
age 82



15

Asset Management – Remediation of existing surfaces

Untreated Granite

Granite drainage channel
with anti-slip resin and dressing applied

Treating Existing Assets

• Quick remediation
• Visually appealing 
• High grip
• Bright surface 

PROACTIVE ENGAGEMENT IN SELECTION OF MATERIALS FOR 
FOOTPATHS AND PEDESTRIAN AREAS

P
age 83



16

So, what are we doing to tackle the cost of claims?

▪ Increasing awareness of causes through better claims management 

information

▪ Identification of Claims Hotspots 

▪ Remediation through streets and footpaths surveys

▪ Proactive risk management 

▪ Proactive engagement in selection of materials for footpaths and 

pedestrian areas

▪ Claims Process Enhancements 

▪ Focus on fraud and exaggeration 

▪ Reduction in claims and costs of claims

P
age 84



17

Claims Process Enhancements (early investigation)

150
Investigation

Reports
Completed by
LA Engineer

150
Claims 

Investigation
Reports by IPB 
appointed LLA

320 Days
Average

Completion
Time

60 Days
Average

Completion Time

180 – 510 
Days

Completion
Time Range

30 – 75 
Days

Completion
Time Range

REDUCED CLAIM 
LIFE CYCLE =

LOWER CLAIMS 
COST

23 Local Authorities Now USE IPB Appointed LLAs

Review of 
10 Local 
Authorities 
using LLAs

P
age 85



18

IPB Focus on Fraud

IPBs policy holders 
real-estate can involve 

supervision & CCTV 
exposures

Late Notification: 
Altered locus and any 

subsequent repairs 
makes investigation 

difficult

A view that an injury 
and a defect equals 

a reasonable 
prospect of success

P
age 86



19

IPB Focus on Fraud

Targeted 

Trawl of 

Open 

Claims

Fraud 

Consultant

Ex CAB

Dedicated 

Specialist 

Fraud Team

Identified

fraud 

indicators

775 
Suspicious 

Claims

Preliminary
Review of 

8,000 claims

TARGETING ORGANISED FRAUD

P
age 87



20

IPB Focus on Fraud

Multiple

Addresses

Slips

& 

Trips

Criminal 

Gangs 

using 

women and 

minors

Specific 

Traits

False

Names &

Multiple 

identities

IPB launched an internal 
fraud awareness campaign 
in September

Solicitor 

Clustering

Geographic 

Clustering

Relationship

Clustering

(Families)

P
age 88



21

IPB Focus on Fraud
1st Grouping Identified 

33 

Claims

TRAITS
False Names – False PPS Numbers  -

Swapping Addresses 
Maiden Names - Historical Addresses  

- False Dates of Birth
Multiple spellings of surnames

CASE
Meet Paddy 
He has made claims in his own name and also under the names of 
Kieran & Brian. Paddy’s Sister has claims in name of Anne & Caroline, 
both for the same injuries. Son, Daughter-in-Law, six grandchildren.
Total Impact: 10 claims

This family have already successfully made claims and 
been paid by: 

€958,000

P
age 89



22

INTEGRATED CLAIMS STRATEGY

Process 

Improvements

Fraud

Initiatives

Litigation 

Strategies

Engineer 

Engagement

Enhanced Claims MI

Enhanced MI identifies sites of potential 
fraud and requiring remediation

Improved processes reduces life cycles of 
claims

Fraud initiatives remove cost and assist in 
discouraging fraudulent claimants 

Better litigation strategies result in better 
outcomes

Heightened engineer engagement enables 
greater focus on areas needing attention

Risk improvement eliminating claims 
hotspots

These six areas work effectively to produce 
cumulatively much greater results

Risk 

Improvements

IN SUMMARY

P
age 90



23

RETAINED EARNINGS DISTRIBUTION (RED) UPDATE

• High Level of Member Engagement 

• Key areas of focus on removing historic insurance debts and transferring 
insurable risks from Members’ balance sheets to IPB 

• Remediating hazards that are causing claims

• Ring-fencing of these funds for insurance-related issues is crucial to future 
pricing

P
age 91



24

Responding to Members Feedback

2018 NEW PRODUCTS

New Environmental 
Impairment Product 

EIL ‘GO’ (General 
Operations) Product 

Provides for gaps 
in cover relating to 

environmental 
impairment as a result of 

day to day activities

New Cyber Product

Providing cover 
against loss 
due to 
cyber fraud 
and hacking

PRODUCTS

P
age 92



CSE 
Supporting Regional Social 

Enterprises 

PRESENTATION BY

Deirdre Mortell 
Chief Executive 

Social Innovation Fund Ireland

P
age 93



26

SOCIAL ENTERPRISE DEVELOPMENT FUND SUPPORTED 
BY IPB INSURANCE AND SIFI

Social Innovation Fund Ireland

in partnership with

Local Authorities’ LEO network,

through funding from 

IPB, matched by Government, 

will create a fund that will have 

a transformative effect on Ireland’s

Social Enterprise landscape.

P
age 94



27

SOCIAL ENTERPRISE DEVELOPMENT FUND OBJECTIVE

Funded by IPB Insurance 
will make a €800,000 
donation per annum over 
2 years to SIFI.* 
Government will match 
this donation to create 
€1.6m fund over 2 years 
delivering both cash 
awards and expertise to 
support developing Social 
Enterprises to create jobs.

Fund Objective Find and back innovative 
social enterprises that are adding to the 
social and economic fabric of their 
community by way of social impact

*Subject to on-going satisfaction of terms & 
conditions

P
age 95



28

SOCIAL ENTERPRISE DEVELOPMENT FUND COMPONENTS

Annual fund over 2 years: €800,000 p.a.

Up to 8 awards 

3 categories for best Social Enterprises                    

1. Urban 2. Town 3. Rural

Capacity Building: Most promising 

Social Enterprises

€400,000 IPB Insurance

€400,000 Dept. of Rural & Community Development

8 awards of €50,000 and bespoke non-financial supports. 

Accelerator Programme run in 5 regional centres

Places on Accelerator Programme (numbers based on demand 

and fit)

P
age 96



29

SOCIAL ENTERPRISE DEVELOPMENT FUND COMPONENTS

Jan - March 2018 March - May 2018 June 2018 June - December 2018 January 2019

1. Regional Events
2. National & Regional 

Promotional 
Campaign

1. Thorough Screening
2. Process Interviews
3. Due diligence

1. High Profile National 
Event

2. PR Campaign

1. Mentoring
2. Non-financial supports
3. Strategic planning

1. Showcase Event
2. Fund Evaluation 

Open Call Selection Process Awards Event Accelerator Exit & Evaluation

€1.6 
million
Funding 
committed to 
programme

31 LEOs
providing 
opportunity to local 
social enterprises to 
participate in Fund 
Awards Programme

€800,000
in cash awards

P
age 97



30

SOCIAL ENTERPRISE DEVELOPMENT FUND 
BENEFITS TO LOCAL AUTHORITIES & LEOs

• A programme to direct social 
enterprises for support

• Establish a support package for 
developing social enterprises

• Create a national pipeline of 
social enterprises

• Mentoring programme 
developed

• Social enterprise development 
programme developed

• Create a strong viable network of 
social enterprises

• Create awareness of, and 
promoting access to, EU funding 
for social enterprise 
development

• Job creation affiliated to LEOs 
(does not fall under EI remit)

• Aligns with local authority LECP 
plans

P
age 98



31

SOCIAL ENTERPRISE 
DEVELOPMENT FUND 

SUPPORTING THOSE  WHO 
SERVE THE COMMUNITY

FUNDED BY:

P
age 99



Conclusion 
and 

Questions & Answers

Chairman
George Jones

P
age 100


	Agenda
	1 Terms of Reference for Outside Legal Opinion - Clontarf to City Centre Cycleway Part 8 Process
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 2nd November 2017 and matters arising
	Minutes

	3 Lord Mayor's Receptions and Engagements of the Deputy Lord Mayor
	Deputy Lord Mayor Events

	4b) Conference Reports Received:
	7 Revision of Expenses and Allowances for Elected Members
	S.I. No. 494 of 2017
	Explanation Expenses 2017

	8 Freedom of the City
	9 Draft Flags Policy
	10 Members Engagement Forum Presentation - (For Information Purposes)

